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WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were had a t 

8:18 a.m.: 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. Please note today's date, A p r i l 15th, 2004, Docket 

Number 11-04. I'm Michael Stogner, appointed Hearing 

O f f i c e r f o r today's cases. 

Continuances and dismissals. 

Let's s t a r t w i t h page 2 on top, Case 13,249, t h i s 

i s the A p p l i c a t i o n of Thunderbolt Petroleum t o increase the 

maximum surface i n j e c t i o n pressure on a w a t e r f l o o d i n Eddy 

County, New Mexico. This case w i l l be continued t o June 

10th. 

The one below i t , Case 13,232, i s t h e A p p l i c a t i o n 

of Marbob Energy Corporation f o r an order a u t h o r i z i n g the 

d r i l l i n g of a w e l l i n the potash area, Eddy County, New 

Mexico. This case w i l l be continued t o A p r i l 29th. 

Let's go down t o the f o u r t h one on page 2, t h a t ' s 

Case 13,245, which i s the A p p l i c a t i o n of Yates Petroleum 

Corporation f o r compulsory p o o l i n g , Eddy County, New 

Mexico. This case w i l l be dismissed. 

Down a t the bottom, Case 13,236, t h i s i s the 

A p p l i c a t i o n of Preston E x p l o r a t i o n , L.L.C., f o r compulsory 

p o o l i n g , Eddy County, New Mexico. This case w i l l be 

continued t o A p r i l 29th. 

On page 3, t h i s i s the A p p l i c a t i o n of Preston 
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E x p l o r a t i o n , L.L.C., f o r compulsory p o o l i n g , Eddy County, 

New Mexico, which i s Case 13,246. This case w i l l be 

dismissed al s o . 

The next one, Case 13,165, t h i s i s t he 

A p p l i c a t i o n of the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n f o r an order 

r e q u i r i n g EnergyPro, I n c . , t o p r o p e r l y p l u g a c e r t a i n w e l l 

i n Lea County, New Mexico. This case w i l l be continued t o 

May 13th. 

Let's go over t o page f o u r . Case 13,238, t h i s i s 

the A p p l i c a t i o n of Vernon E. Faulconer and Faulconer 

Energy, General Partner, L.L.C. This i s a request f o r an 

emergency order i n Eddy County, New Mexico. This case w i l l 

be dismissed. 

Are t h e r e any other continuances and/or 

di s m i s s a l s a t t h i s time? 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, on page 1 — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Page 1. 

MR. BRUCE: — the f i r s t Concho Resources case. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: That's Case 13,218? 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, s i r . I would request t h a t t h a t 

be continued f o r f o u r weeks. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Four weeks. Okay, I d i d n ' t 

b r i n g my calendar. What's t h a t going t o be continued to? 

May 13th? 

MR. BRUCE: May 13th. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, a t the request of Concho 

Resources, Case 13,218 w i l l be continued May 13th. 

MR. BRUCE: And then the next case, 13,217 — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: — t h i s case has been heard. Mr. 

Carr represented a c e r t a i n i n t e r e s t owner, and we are 

w a i t i n g f o r the f i n a l agreement between Concho, now 

Chesapeake, and Mr. Carr's c l i e n t t o be signed. I ' d ask 

t h a t the case be continued f o r two weeks and then be taken 

under advisement a t t h a t time. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, so one more time, Case 

13,217, which i s the A p p l i c a t i o n of Concho Resources, I n c . , 

f o r compulsory p o o l i n g . Mr. Carr's i n the room. Who d i d 

you represent i n t h a t case? 

MR. CARR: I represent D e r r e l Melton, who i s a 

working i n t e r e s t owner. We have been t a l k i n g w i t h Concho. 

We now have agreed t o the terms of a term assignment, and 

also have completed a side agreement concerning the w e l l 

l o c a t i o n . The documents are j u s t pending approval by the 

Concho management a t t h i s time, and we are — we b e l i e v e 

w e ' l l have them e a s i l y signed w i t h i n the next two weeks. 

MR. BRUCE: And then i n two weeks we'd ask t h a t 

i t be taken under advisement. There were s e v e r a l other 

small i n t e r e s t owners who s t i l l need t o be pooled. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, a t the request of the 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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A p p l i c a t i o n , and w i t h the agreement of Mr. Carr's c l i e n t s , 

Case 13,217 w i l l be continued t o A p r i l 29th. 

Any other continuances or dismissals? 

Before I c a l l the f i r s t case today, I had a 

request by the App l i c a n t i n Case 13,237 — t h a t ' s over on 

page 3 — t h a t they would not be here u n t i l 1:30. So > 

whatever happens t h i s morning, we w i l l take a recess t i l l 

1:30 t o hear Case 13,2371 So i f anybody i s i n the room 

j u s t f o r t h a t case, f e e l f r e e t o leave, and we can see you 

a t 1:30. With a l l the dismissals and continuances, I 

a n t i c i p a t e t he other cases, we w i l l be done by t h i s 

morning. 

(Thereupon, these proceedings were concluded a t 

8:21 a.m.) 

* * * 
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WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were had a t 

1:35 p.m.: 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. We recessed a t about t e n o'clock t h i s morning t o 

1:30, and a t t h i s time I'm c a l l i n g Case 13,237. This i s 

the A p p l i c a t i o n of J.C. Well Service, I n c . , f o r an order of 

the D i v i s i o n r e s c i n d i n g the approvals of C-104A Change of 

Operator forms issued by the D i s t r i c t I I I O f f i c e on c e r t a i n 

w e l l s i n San Juan County, New Mexico. 

At t h i s time I ' l l c a l l f o r appearances. 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, Scott H a l l , M i l l e r 

S t r a t v e r t , P.A., Santa Fe, on behalf of the A p p l i c a n t , J.C. 

Well Service, I n c . , and I have one witness t h i s afternoon. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Other appearances? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Mr. Examiner, G a i l MacQuesten on 

behalf of the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n . I have one 

witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other appearances? 

MR. MONTOYA: Yes, good afternoon, my name i s Tom 

Montoya. I'm an attor n e y i n Albuquerque, New Mexico, w i t h 

Atkinson and Kelsey, P.A. I represent A c t i o n O i l Company, 

In c . , and Carmen Wood who i s the owner of t h a t company. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Do you have any 

witnesses today, Mr. Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: None t h a t ' s a n t i c i p a t e d . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Any other appearances? 

Okay, I would l i k e the two witnesses t o stand a t 

t h i s time t o be sworn. 

(Thereupon, the witnesses were sworn.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, before we get s t a r t e d , 

i s t h e r e any need f o r opening remarks a t t h i s time? 

MR. HALL: B r i e f l y , Mr. Examiner, i f I might 

proceed. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Please. 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, i n t h i s case we w i l l 

e x p l a i n t o you t h a t J.C. Well Service, Incorporated, my 

c l i e n t , i s the operator of those w e l l s t h a t are shown under 

E x h i b i t Tab 1 i n your e x h i b i t notebook. There's a 

m u l t i t u d e of w e l l s t h a t are located on th r e e t r i b a l leases 

i n San Juan County, New Mexico. There are two Navajo 

leases and one Ute Mountain Ute lease. 

We'll e x p l a i n t o you how J.C. Well Service and 

i t s a f f i l i a t e s acquired t i t l e t o the leases i n 1997 and 

t h a t i t has operated the leases since e a r l y 1998. 

We'll also demonstrate t o you t h a t i n about 2001-

2002, my c l i e n t assigned the Ute Mountain Ute t r i b a l lease 

t o BIYA Operators, Incorporated, and now they are the 

operator of the w e l l s located on the Ute Mountain Ute 

lease. 

We w i l l also demonstrate t o you t h a t i n 2002, 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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f i v e years a f t e r my c l i e n t acquired the w e l l s and began 

op e r a t i n g them, the former w i f e of the p r e s i d e n t of the 

former operator of these w e l l s and leases, A c t i o n O i l 

Company, obtained ownership of t h a t c o r p o r a t i o n , which had 

zero assets, through a divorce proceeding, and subsequently 

t h a t i n d i v i d u a l turned around and sued my c l i e n t , i n the 

11th J u d i c i a l D i s t r i c t Court i n Aztec. 

I n an attempt t o have the lease assignments from 

A c t i o n O i l , Incorporated, t o R.J. E n t e r p r i s e s , my c l i e n t ' s 

a f f i l i a t e company, J.C. Well Service rescinded and r e s t o r e d 

i n the name of a c t i o n o i l company. 

We'll also demonstrate t o you t h a t w h i l e t h a t 

l i t i g a t i o n i n Aztec was pending, the c u r r e n t p r e s i d e n t of 

A c t i o n O i l Company had the D i v i s i o n ' s D i s t r i c t 3 O f f i c e 

approve C-104A Change of Operating Forms t o show A c t i o n O i l 

Company as the c u r r e n t operator of each of the w e l l s , even 

though A c t i o n O i l Company on i n f o r m a t i o n I b e l i e v e has no 

assets, has no s t a f f , has no t e c h n i c a l e x p e r t i s e , doesn't 

even have an o f f i c e . 

We'll e s t a b l i s h t h a t the C-104A's were f i l e d 

w i t h o u t the knowledge of the c u r r e n t operator, J.C. Well 

Service, and w i t h o u t t h e i r approval. And we w i l l argue t o 

you, Mr. Examiner, t h a t t h a t submission, the f i l i n g of t h a t 

C-104A, was improper, i t was an abuse of the D i v i s i o n ' s 

processes. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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We w i l l then ask you t o enter an order s e t t i n g 

aside t h a t approval and have the D i v i s i o n records c o r r e c t e d 

t o r e f l e c t t h a t J.C. Well Service, the a c t u a l operator of 

the w e l l s , i s the operator on the D i v i s i o n ' s records. 

That concludes my remarks, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Ms. MacQuesten? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Mr. Examiner, the f a c t s t h a t you 

w i l l hear today may be somewhat complex and d e t a i l e d , but 

the issue f o r you t o decide i s r e l a t i v e l y simple. The 

issue i s , who i s the appropriate operator f o r these wells? 

The D i v i s i o n believes t h a t they acted c o r r e c t l y 

i n changing the operator t o Ac t i o n O i l Company, f o r both 

l e g a l reasons and p r a c t i c a l reasons. 

The l e g a l reasons are t h i s : A l l of these leases 

are on t r i b a l land. By f e d e r a l law, the Bureau of I n d i a n 

A f f a i r s , the BIA, i s responsible f o r l e a s i n g lands and 

reco g n i z i n g assignments of leases. They determine who the 

operator of the lease i s . And t h e i r d e t e rmination i s 

recognized by other f e d e r a l e n t i t i e s , such as the BLM and 

the EPA. I n t h i s case, Action O i l Company i s the operator 

of record according t o the BIA and i s recognized as such by 

not only the BIA but the BLM and the EPA. 

That leads t o the p r a c t i c a l reasons f o r 

rec o g n i z i n g A c t i o n O i l as the operator i n t h i s case. We 

coordinate our enforcement e f f o r t s w i t h those f e d e r a l 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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agencies, the EPA and the BLM. We need t o recognize the 

same operator as those e n t i t i e s t o enable us t o coordinate 

our enforcement e f f o r t s . 

And another p r a c t i c a l reason i s t h a t the BIA 

administers the bonding or f i n a n c i a l assurances f o r w e l l s 

t h a t are under t h e i r j u r i s d i c t i o n . The bond i s h e l d i n the 

name of Ac t i o n O i l Company. Again, f o r us t o coordinate 

our enforcement a c t i o n s , a l l of these e n t i t i e s need t o 

recognize the same operator, and t h a t i s A c t i o n O i l . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you. Mr. Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: Yes, Mr. Examiner, you know, based 

upon the statements I've provided here of Mr. H a l l on 

behalf of h i s c l i e n t , I would ask leave of the Examiner t o 

have Carmen Wood t e s t i f y i n r e b u t t a l , i f I may be pe r m i t t e d 

t o do t h a t , and r e t r a c t the e a r l i e r statement t h a t I made 

t h a t t h e r e w i l l be no witnesses. This i s j u s t a p o s s i b l e 

r e b u t t a l . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

MR. MONTOYA: Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: What I w i l l do i s , i f you 

s t i l l f i n d i t necessary t o c a l l Ms. Wood — whoever your 

person i s — as a witness, we w i l l swear them i n a t t h a t 

time. So help me remember t h a t . I won't swear them i n a t 

t h i s p o i n t u n t i l we get them up on the witness stand. But 

you may do so and present t h a t person a t the a p p r o p r i a t e 
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time. 

MR. MONTOYA: Thank you. And probably more 

lengthy than needed t o be the case, on A p r i l t he 12th, 

which I b e l i e v e was Monday, we submitted t o you and t o 

counsel a p o s i t i o n statement, or a prehearing statement, 

t h a t e s s e n t i a l l y contains the p o s i t i o n of A c t i o n O i l 

Company, I n c . , and Carmen Wood. And we c e r t a i n l y agree 

w i t h Ms. MacQuesten's statements and p o s i t i o n . 

And I t h i n k t h a t the key issue here i s t h a t the 

w e l l s and o i l leases involved are a l l on I n d i a n land. And 

because they are a l l on Indi a n land, what i s r e q u i r e d f o r 

approval of the operating r i g h t s on I n d i a n land i s the 

approval of the United States Government, the approval 

which comes through the Department of the I n t e r i o r through 

the Bureau of In d i a n A f f a i r s , and the approval of the two 

I n d i a n t r i b e s t h a t are a t issue. That would be the Navajo 

Nation and the Ute Mountain Ute Tribes, because these 

leases and w e l l s are a l l — the a p p l i c a b l e ones — are a l l 

on I n d i a n land. 

And what we have provided here — and I t h i n k 

t h i s i s what Ms. Wood provided p e r s o n a l l y and i n d i v i d u a l l y , 

i t wasn't through our o f f i c e — but she provided the O i l 

Conservation D i v i s i o n w i t h the correspondences from the 

Bureau of In d i a n A f f a i r s , which are included i n t he 

prehearing statement, which are t o the e f f e c t t h a t as f a r 
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as t he Department of the I n t e r i o r i s concerned, t h a t A c t i o n 

O i l , I n c . , continues t o be the lessees of record of a l l the 

w e l l s and leases t h a t are involved i n t h i s case. And we 

f e e l t h a t those are the c r u c i a l documents. That has not 

changed. 

The same as t o the e f f e c t of the Navajo Nation 

and w i t h respect t o the Ute Mountain Ute T r i b e , t h e r e i s an 

a p p l i c a t i o n pending before the Ute Mountain Ute T r i b e f o r 

approval of assignments, which t o t h i s date has not y e t 

occurred. 

With respect t o the l i t i g a t i o n , b r i e f l y , t h e r e i s 

l i t i g a t i o n t h a t i s ongoing i n the Eleventh J u d i c i a l 

D i s t r i c t , whereby A c t i o n O i l , I n c . , has requested the 

D i s t r i c t Court t o rescind the c o n t r a c t t h a t i s the basis of 

the A p p l i c a n t ' s claim t o operator r i g h t s here today. The 

c o u r t , as Mr. H a l l has i n d i c a t e d , has denied t h a t request 

f o r r e s c i s s i o n , and i t i s s t i l l pending. I t ' s not a f i n a l 

order, because the cour t has the a u t h o r i t y r i g h t now t o 

change i t s p o s i t i o n on t h a t , and t h a t matter i s pending. 

I f t he c o u r t does not change i t s p o s i t i o n on t h a t , then i t 

w i l l become a f i n a l , appealable order, and then an appeal 

i s a n t i c i p a t e d . So t h a t i s as f a r as s t a t e law i s 

concerned. 

As f a r as s t a t e law i s concerned, the d i s t r i c t 

c o u r t judge has not rescinded the c o n t r a c t under which Mr. 
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Cunningham derives h i s r i g h t s under s t a t e law. We f e e l 

t h a t because f e d e r a l law i s c o n t r o l l i n g here, and because 

the matters concern leases on In d i a n lands, t h a t t h a t i s 

what i s going t o be c o n t r o l l i n g w i t h respect t o the 

ope r a t i o n of the w e l l s themselves. 

The p o s i t i o n t h a t A c t i o n O i l has taken before the 

c o u r t , and w i l l take i n the a p p e l l a t e c o u r t as w e l l , i s 

t h a t these leases do not become e f f e c t i v e a t a l l under 

f e d e r a l law u n t i l they have been approved by the Department 

of t he I n t e r i o r , and we submitted a u t h o r i t y w i t h respect t o 

t h a t statement as w e l l i n the prehearing statement. 

Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. H a l l , you may c a l l your 

witness. 

MR. HALL: At t h i s time, Mr. Examiner, we c a l l 

John Cunningham t o the stand. 

JOHN CUNNINGHAM, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. For the record, please s t a t e your name, s i r . 

A. John Cunningham. 

Q. And where do you l i v e , Mr. Cunningham? 

A. 1604 East 30th, Farmington, New Mexico. 
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Q. By whom are you employed and i n what capacity? 

A. I own and operate J.C. Well Service and R&J 

Ent e r p r i s e s . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . You have not t e s t i f i e d before the 

D i v i s i o n or any of i t s Examiners? 

A. I don't b e l i e v e I have, no. 

Q. Okay. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the A p p l i c a t i o n 

t h a t ' s been f i l e d on your behalf i n t h i s case? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the lands t h a t — the 

th r e e leases t h a t are the subject of the A p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And the wells? 

A. (No response) 

Q. F i r s t of a l l , i f you would e x p l a i n t o the 

Examiner, you've mentioned two companies, J.C. Well 

Service, Incorporated, and R&J Enterprises. Explain each 

one. 

A. J.C. Well Service i s a w e l l - s e r v i c i n g company and 

we do w e l l - s e r v i c e work, plug w e l l s and so f o r t h . R&J 

Enter p r i s e s i s an operating company we operate some w e l l s 

under. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . I n t h i s case, you've already heard 

mention t h a t t h e r e have been some c o n t r a c t u a l agreements 

w i t h A c t i o n O i l Company f o r the t r a n s f e r and assignment of 
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some lease i n t e r e s t s . 

A. Yes. 

Q. Were those lease i n t e r e s t s assigned t o R.J. 

En t e r p r i s e s , i f you can r e c a l l ? 

We'll get t o t h a t . Let's look a t E x h i b i t 2, 

b r i e f l y . 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. What i s E x h i b i t 2? I s t h a t an assignment? 

A. I t ' s an assignment and b i l l of sale, conveyance. 

Q. I s t h a t from Action O i l , Incorporated, t o you 

i n d i v i d u a l l y ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now as lease owner, are the p r o p e r t i e s operated 

through your company, J.C. Well Service? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. How long has J.C. Well Service been i n existence? 

A. Since 1975. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And how long have you worked i n the 

San Juan Basin? 

A. Since 1968. 

Q. T e l l the Examiner what you've done over the years 

i n t he San Juan Basin. 

A. I've worked i n production, d r i l l i n g , p l ugging, 

about a l l phases of the o i l business. 

Q. And have you worked on In d i a n lands i n the past 
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as w e l l ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. Have you worked f o r the OCD? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What have you done f o r them? 

A. I've plugged some w e l l s f o r the OCD. 

Q. And BLM? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You've plugged w e l l s f o r the BLM as we l l ? 

A. Under the BLM auspices. I mean, not d i r e c t l y f o r 

BLM, but I've plugged w e l l s t h a t BLM was su p e r v i s i n g . 

Q. I see. And are you also a producer? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. I f y o u ' l l look back under E x h i b i t Tab 1, 

i s t h a t a complete l i s t of a l l the w e l l s t h a t are on the 

th r e e I n d i a n leases we're deal i n g w i t h here today? 

A. Yes, I be l i e v e i t i s . Yes. 

Q. And how long have you a c t u a l l y been o p e r a t i n g 

these wells? 

A. Since January of 1998. 

Q. Who was the previous operator? 

A. A c t i o n O i l . 

Q. Explain t o the Hearing Examiner how you came t o 

acquire these p r o p e r t i e s from A c t i o n O i l . 

A. I had done a l i t t l e work f o r Gene Burson. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

17 

Q. Who i s Gene Burson? 

A. He's the president of A c t i o n O i l Company. 

Q. Okay, what work were you doing? 

A. We were j u s t p u l l i n g h i s w e l l s . We plugged some 

w e l l s f o r him and t h i s s o r t of t h i n g , and he c a l l e d me and 

t o l d me t h a t they were i n the process of plugging a l l t h a t 

s t u f f out and they wanted t o get r i d of i t . 

Q. And you're t a l k i n g about these t h r e e leases? 

A. These leases, yes. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. Wanted t o know i f I had any i n t e r e s t i n them. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. And I evaluated the deal and t o l d him I would t r y 

t o work something out. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And when you say "the d e a l " , t u r n 

back again t o E x h i b i t Tab 2. I s t h i s the assignment, b i l l 

o f sale and conveyance t h a t r e s u l t e d from your agreement t o 

purchase? 

A. That's c o r r e c t , t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . I t i s . 

Q. Let's look under E x h i b i t Tab — Oh, by the way, 

l e t me ask you, i s the assignment f i l e d of record w i t h the 

San Juan County Clerk's Office? 

A. I t i s . 

Q. And so t h i s i s the instrument by which you 

acquired t i t l e ? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Let's look under E x h i b i t Tab 3. We've already 

e s t a b l i s h e d we're t a l k i n g about three t r i b a l leases here. 

Are those shown under E x h i b i t Tab 3? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. So you have a Navajo lease — the f i n a l p r e f i x i s 

Lease Number 639 — followed by the lease p r e f i x e d Number 

90 — I'm s o r r y , t h a t ' s the Ute lease. The second Navajo 

lease i s l a s t p r e f i x number 903. So i t ' s 639, 903, and f o r 

the Utes i t ' s 90; i s t h a t correct? 

A. That's c o r r e c t , yes. 

Q. Now, l e t ' s look under E x h i b i t Tab 4. Can you 

i d e n t i f y t h a t f o r the Hearing Examiner, please? 

A. I t ' s the papers I f i l e d w i t h the O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n t o show the t r a n s p o r t e r — who's going t o 

t r a n s p o r t the crude. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . I s t h i s a C-104 form? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And was i t f i l e d i n approximately August of 1998? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And does i t also show a change of operator from 

A c t i o n O i l , Incorporated, t o J.C. Well Service? 

A. I t does. 

Q. And a t the bottom, very bottom of the form, who 

executed t h a t ? 
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A. Gene Burson, President, A c t i o n O i l Company. 

Q. And t h a t was subsequently approved by the OCD on 

August 5 t h , 1998; i s t h a t r e f l e c t e d there? 

A. That's what — Yes. 

Q. And the remainder of the C-104's under t h a t t a b , 

are these the C-104's f o r the remaining w e l l s on the t h r e e 

t r i b a l leases we're t a l k i n g about? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s what they are. 

Q. Now, t o your knowledge, i n the case of those 

C-104's, d i d the OCD a c t u a l l y approve those change of 

operators before the t r i b a l lease assignments were approved 

by the BIA? 

A. I be l i e v e so, yes. 

Q. Okay. Did the approval of the C-104's i n 1998 

t r i g g e r the use by the State of the OGRID number f o r J.C. 

Well Service? 

A. Yes, i t d i d . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Now, what happened t o the Ute 

Mountain Ute lease? 

A. I t went t o BIYA Operators. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , l e t ' s look under E x h i b i t Tab 5. I s 

t h a t a copy of the assignment of mining lease f o r the 

assignment of the Ute Mountain Ute t r i b a l lease from you t o 

BIYA Operators? 

A. Yes, I bel i e v e i t i s . 
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Q. Now, l e t ' s look a t E x h i b i t Tab 6. I s t h a t a copy 

of the C-104A i n d i c a t i n g a change of operator f o r the w e l l s 

l o c a t e d on the Ute Mountain Ute lease from J.C. Well 

Service, Incorporated, t o BIYA Operators? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s what i t i s . 

Q. And d i d you approve t h a t change of operator? 

A. Yes, I d i d . 

Q. I f you know, has t h i s been submitted t o the OCD's 

D i s t r i c t 3 o f f i c e i n Aztec? 

A. I'm sure t h a t i t has. 

Q. A f t e r A c t i o n O i l Company assigned the Navajo and 

Ute leases t o you i n 1998, d i d you have any f u r t h e r 

dealings w i t h A c t i o n or Mr. Burson? 

A. No. 

Q. What i s the status of the t r i b a l assignment forms 

f o r the Navajo leases? 

A. They're i n t h e i r possession, along w i t h the 

Navajos. 

Q. Have you submitted requests t o the BIA t h a t those 

assignments be approved? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And t o date have they been approved? 

A. No. 

Q. Let's look a t the e x h i b i t under E x h i b i t Tab 7. 

I s t h a t e x h i b i t a copy of a l e t t e r dated June 25, 2003, 
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from the BIA Navajo Agency Realty O f f i c e t o you, r e q u e s t i n g 

a d d i t i o n a l m a t e r i a l s f o r them t o u t i l i z e i n t h e i r approval 

of the Navajo lease assignments? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s what i t i s . 

Q. And i f y o u ' l l look under E x h i b i t Tab 8, i s t h a t a 

copy of my t r a n s m i t t a l l e t t e r of J u l y 21, 2003, t o the 

Navajo area o f f i c e f o r the BIA, t r a n s m i t t i n g the m a t e r i a l s 

t h a t were requested f o r t h e i r processing of the lease 

assignments? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. So t o your knowledge, the assignments f o r the two 

Navajo leases, as w e l l as the Ute Mountain Ute lease, are 

s t i l l pending approval by the BIA; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. To my knowledge, yes. 

Q. You received no i n d i c a t i o n , no word, no 

communication a t a l l from the BIA i n d i c a t i n g t h a t those 

requests f o r approvals have been denied, have you? 

A. No, I have not. 

Q. Since you've been operating the Ute Mountain Ute 

and the Navajo lease w e l l s , what's your r e l a t i o n s h i p been 

w i t h the BIA, the BLM, out i n the f i e l d there? 

A. I f they have anything t h a t they want done, I j u s t 

do i t immediately, any problems. 

Q. So i n your view has the BIA and the BLM regarded 

you as the operator? 
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A. Oh, yes, they have i n every sense. 

Q. I f there's a problem, they w i l l c a l l you? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And you respond t o those problems? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Has the BLM issued any no t i c e s of noncompliance? 

A. Some minor t h i n g s . 

Q. A l l r i g h t , and do they go t o you or t o A c t i o n 

O i l ? 

A. They came t o me. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Now, have you been r e m i t t i n g 

r o y a l t i e s and lease r e n t a l s t o the MMS f o r these leases 

since 1998? 

A. Yes, I have. 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, we might s k i p order of 

e x h i b i t s and go t o E x h i b i t Tab 23. 

Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) Mr. Cunningham, could you i d e n t i f y 

what E x h i b i t Tab 23 i s f o r the Hearing Examiner? 

A. I t ' s a demand f o r lease payment. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , and t h a t ' s from — ? 

A. The Navajo Nation. 

Q. I s t h a t from the Minerals Management Service, 

Department of I n t e r i o r — 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. — on behalf of the Navajo Nation? 
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A. That i s c o r r e c t , yes. 

Q. And i s i t addressed t o J.C. Well Service, 

Incorporated? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And i s t h a t an example of the inv o i c e s you 

received from MMS and which you pay? 

A. I t i s an example, yes. 

Q. Have you had dealings w i t h the O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n w i t h respect t o lease operations out on these 

leases? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Give us an example. 

A. Well, when we converted t h a t 20 i n t o a water 

d i s p o s a l w e l l , the OCD was present, you know, t o see t h a t 

e v e r y t h i n g was a l l r i g h t , t h a t the MIT t e s t went c o r r e c t l y 

and a l l t h a t s o r t of t h i n g . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . I f there's some problem, a leaky 

valve or an open gate, t h a t s o r t of t h i n g , does the OCD 

f i e l d s t a f f contact you? 

A. Yeah, i n f a c t , they've c a l l e d me a few times when 

something was wrong and I went out and f i x e d i t 

immediately. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , you mentioned — 

A. Bruce M a r t i n , mostly. 

Q. I'm s o r r y , say t h a t again? 
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A. Bruce M a r t i n seems t o work t h a t area out t h e r e . 

Q. Okay. Have you i n f a c t p e r m i t t e d an i n j e c t i o n 

w e l l w i t h the Navajo EPA — 

A. Yes, I — 

Q. — on the Navajo lease? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And i s a p o r t i o n of t h a t permit shown under 

E x h i b i t Tab 9? 

A. Yes, a p o r t i o n of i t . 

Q. And l e t ' s e x p l a i n again, i t shows owner, name and 

address, R&J Enterprises. I n f a c t , i s t h a t you? 

A. That's the same — Yeah, t h a t ' s me a l s o . 

Q. Okay. E a r l i e r , you i n d i c a t e d you have had no 

dealings w i t h A c t i o n since 1998; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Mostly, no. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , and i n 2 002 d i d a miss Carmen Wood and 

A c t i o n O i l Company f i l e s u i t against you i n the s t a t e 

d i s t r i c t c o u r t i n Aztec? 

A. Yes, they d i d . 

Q. And was i t your understanding t h a t Ms. Wood was 

asking the c o u r t t o rescind the 1998 lease assignments and 

r e t u r n the Navajo and Ute p r o p e r t i e s back t o her and her 

company? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s the way i t read. 

Q. Let's look a t E x h i b i t 10, look a t E x h i b i t Tab 10. 
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What i s t h a t ? 

A. Change of operator form. 

Q. I s t h a t a change of operator dated approximately 

J u l y , 2003, t h a t was f i l e d , t o the best of your knowledge, 

w i t h the OCD's D i v i s i o n 3 O f f i c e by Carmen Wood? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And does i t r e f l e c t t h a t Carmen Wood i s owner — 

A. That's what i t r e f l e c t s — 

Q. — of the well? 

A. — yes. 

Q. I f y o u ' l l note down below i n the lower l e f t - h a n d 

block, t h e r e i s a p o r t i o n of the form t o be completed by 

the previous operator, and i t i n d i c a t e s "Not A v a i l a b l e " . 

Do you know who wrote th a t ? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Was t h i s form f i l e d w i t h your knowledge? 

A. No. 

Q. Was i t f i l e d w i t h your approval? 

A. No. 

Q. Had you known, would you have approved t h i s ? 

A. No, I would not. 

Q. Who i s the purchaser of o i l pr o d u c t i o n from the 

leases? 

A. Giant I n d u s t r i e s . 

Q. Now, durin g the pendency of the l a w s u i t you j u s t 
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mentioned, d i d n ' t the cu r r e n t p r e s i d e n t of A c t i o n O i l 

Company inform Giant t h a t she was cl a i m i n g the assignments 

from A c t i o n t o you were i n v a l i d ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And as a r e s u l t , d i d Giant suspend p r o d u c t i o n 

payments t o you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And d i d n ' t you have t o go t o c o u r t and get a 

co u r t order a u t h o r i z i n g the release of those proceeds t o 

you? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Before the l a w s u i t , have you ever had any 

dealings w i t h Ms. Wood? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know anything about the c u r r e n t a b i l i t y of 

Ms. Wood or Ac t i o n O i l Company t o f u n c t i o n as an operator 

out i n the f i e l d ? 

A. I do not. 

Q. To your knowledge, does A c t i o n O i l Company have 

any employees? 

A. Not t h a t I know o f . 

Q. Do you know i f they have an o f f i c e , even? 

A. Not t h a t I know of. 

Q. Let's look a t E x h i b i t 11. What i s E x h i b i t 11? 

A. I t ' s from the Taxation and Revenue Department. 
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I t ' s ad valorem equipment t a x , and i t was sent t o A c t i o n 

O i l i n Aztec. 

Q. I f you look i n the upper r i g h t - h a n d corner, i t 

says Date O r i g i n a l Issued: October 13, 2003. Do you see 

th a t ? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. When d i d you receive t h i s ? 

A. I t h i n k i t was i n February — Let's see. 

Q. I f y o u ' l l look — 

A. Yeah. 

Q. — up a t the top, there's a fax t i t l e block 

t h e r e . Do you see that ? 

A. Yeah. We got i t on 2-11-04. That's when we sent 

the check and paid i t . 

Q. Okay. Again, you i n d i c a t e d t h a t the n o t i c e of 

assessment of taxes was sent t o A c t i o n O i l Company a t t h e i r 

address i n Aztec? 

A. Yes. 

Q. This appears t o be a rev i s e d n o t i c e . Did you 

ever rece i v e the o r i g i n a l n o t i c e , the October 13 notice? 

A. No, I d i d not. 

Q. Further on down, i t shows a column of numbers on 

the l e f t s i de. I t s t a r t s w i t h assessment number. Then 

below t h a t i t shows OGRID, OGRID number, and t o the r i g h t 

i t says 25872. I s t h a t J.C. Well Service's OGRID number? 
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A. No, i t ' s not, I don't b e l i e v e so, no. 

Q. Now, look a t the bottom of t h i s assessment 

n o t i c e . Does i t i n d i c a t e t h a t there was i n t e r e s t and 

pen a l t y due on the assessment? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And t h a t ' s because i t was la t e ? 

A. Sure, yes. 

Q. And i t ' s not a tremendously l a r g e amount, but i t 

was l a t e nevertheless; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. So because there was some delay i n the 

transmission of t h i s tax-assessment n o t i c e t o you, you 

in c u r r e d a pen a l t y ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Let's look a t E x h i b i t 12. We've spoken b r i e f l y 

about the l i t i g a t i o n against you by Ms. Wood and A c t i o n O i l 

Company. I s E x h i b i t 11 a copy of the D i s t r i c t Court's 

order dismissing Ms. Wood's l a w s u i t w i t h prejudice? 

MR. MONTOYA: Did you say E x h i b i t 11? 

MR. HALL: Yes. I'm so r r y , 12. 

THE WITNESS: Yes, i t i s . 

Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) Mr. Cunningham, i s E x h i b i t 1 a 

complete and accurate l i s t of a l l the w e l l s , API numbers 

and l e g a l d e s c r i p t i o n s f o r the w e l l s on the t h r e e leases? 

A. I be l i e v e t h a t i t i s , yes. 
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Q. A l l r i g h t . And were E x h i b i t s 2 through 11 and 

then E x h i b i t 23, the MMS i n v o i c e , are those t r u e and exact 

copies of the o r i g i n a l documents t h a t are maintained i n the 

f i l e s of R.J. Enterprises, J.C. Well Service? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, I would move the 

admission of E x h i b i t s 2 through 11 and 23, as w e l l as 

E x h i b i t 1, and ask you t o take a d m i n i s t r a t i v e n o t i c e of 

E x h i b i t s 13 through 22. E x h i b i t 24, Mr. Examiner, i s also 

our a f f i d a v i t of n o t i c e i n t h i s case. 

That concludes our d i r e c t examination of Mr. 

Cunningham. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any ob j e c t i o n s t o the 

e x h i b i t s ? There being none, E x h i b i t s 2 through 11 and 23 

w i l l be admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time, along w i t h 

E x h i b i t Number 1. A d m i n i s t r a t i v e n o t i c e w i l l be taken of 

E x h i b i t s 13 through 22, along w i t h E x h i b i t Number 24, which 

i s t he a f f i d a v i t of n o t i c e . 

At t h i s time, Ms. MacQuesten, do you have any 

questions? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MS. MacQUESTEN: 

Q. Mr. Cunningham, you entered i n t o the assignment, 

b i l l of sale and conveyance w i t h A c t i o n O i l i n 1997; i s 

t h a t r i g h t ? 
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A. December of 1997 — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — when we signed i t . 

Q. And i f you would take a look a t E x h i b i t Number 3, 

the assignment of mining leases, t h a t happened s h o r t l y 

a f t e r t h a t i n February of 1998, t h a t those documents were 

f i l l e d out? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, what are these? Are these documents t h a t 

were f i l e d w i t h the Bureau of Indi a n A f f a i r s ? 

A. Yes, I bel i e v e they were. 

Q. Okay. I n o t i c e there's h i g h l i g h t e d language t h a t 

says t h a t t h i s assignment, which i s supposed t o be from 

A c t i o n t o you, doing business as R&J, i s s u b j e c t t o the 

approval of the Secretary of the I n t e r i o r or h i s authorized 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e . Do you see that ? 

A. I n which e x h i b i t ? 

Q. This i s E x h i b i t Number 3, and I'm l o o k i n g a t the 

very f i r s t page. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you never got t h a t approval, d i d you? 

A. No, ma'am, we haven't y e t . 

Q. And t h i s i s dated back from 1998. Do the 

documents i n E x h i b i t Number 3 p e r t a i n t o the Navajos or the 

Ute Mountain Utes or both? 
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A. I'm sorr y . 

Q. Do these documents i n E x h i b i t Number 3 — are 

they f o r the Ute Mountain Ute leases, the Navajo leases, or 

both? 

A. Okay, one i s f o r the Navajo, the second i s f o r 

the Navajo, and the Ute Mountain lease. They're f o r a l l 

t h e leases. 

Q. And you never received approval from the BIA f o r 

any of those assignments of leases? 

A. No, ma'am, we haven't y e t . 

Q. Okay. So l e t me get the time l i n e s t r a i g h t . You 

f i l e d these back i n 1998. Did you take subsequent a c t i o n 

t o get the assignments recognized by the BIA? 

A. They were f i l e d w i t h them, t h a t ' s — you know, I 

d i d n ' t take any a c t i o n . 

Q. And nothing — You never checked t o see what was 

happening w i t h the requests? 

A. Well, Tommy Roberts was lo o k i n g a f t e r i t , t h e 

at t o r n e y t h e r e i n town. I'm sure t h a t he d i d . 

Q. Did you ever post a bond w i t h the BIA f o r these 

leases? 

A. Yes, the bonds i s up now, yes, ma'am. 

Q. Were they posted back i n 1998? 

A. No, they weren't. 

Q. When d i d you post them? 
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A. They were posted i n 2003, I b e l i e v e . 

Q. Okay, so a second attempt was made t o get the 

assignments recognized by the BIA and — 

A. That i s c o r r e c t , yes, ma'am. 

Q. Now, you mentioned t h a t you converted one of the 

w e l l s t o a disposal w e l l ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. And i t was recognized, according t o the documents 

you presented, by the Navajo Environmental P r o t e c t i o n 

Agency? 

A. Navajo EPA, f e d e r a l EPA and the O i l Conservation 

Commission. 

Q. The document you provided was the r e c o g n i t i o n by 

the Navajo EPA, and I can't remember which number i t was, 

but as I r e c a l l , i t — 

MR. HALL: 9, E x h i b i t 9. 

Q. (By Ms. MacQuesten) Thank you, Scott. You 

poi n t e d out t h a t i t showed R&J Enterprises. I s t h a t how 

the a p p l i c a t i o n read t o the n a t i o n a l EPA? 

A. I be l i e v e so, yes, ma'am. 

Q. That's your r e c o l l e c t i o n , i t wouldn't have been 

f i l e d under A c t i o n O i l ? 

A. I don't t h i n k so. I t h i n k i t was f i l e d under 

R&J. 

Q. You st a t e d t h a t you haven't had dealings w i t h 
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A c t i o n O i l since 1998, other than the l i t i g a t i o n t h a t 

you've been involved in? 

A. Yes. 

Q. At any time since 1998, have you acted as the 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e of Act i o n O i l Company or the employee of 

Ac t i o n O i l Company? 

A. Well, the papers came t o me — various papers 

came i n A c t i o n O i l t o me, and whatever came I took care o f . 

I f i t was something, you know, l i k e lease — Well, t he 

lease payments were sent t o me, J.C. Well Service, but 

anything t h a t came I took care o f . 

Q. Okay, so i f something came t o you and the name on 

the document was Act i o n O i l , you would s t i l l take care of 

i t ? 

A. I took care of whatever problem i t was. 

Q. How about documents t h a t you had t o f i l e w i t h 

v a r i o u s agencies? 

Did you ever f i l e documents r e p r e s e n t i n g t h a t you 

were A c t i o n O i l or i t s representative? 

A. I don't t h i n k so. I'm not — I don't t h i n k so. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Thank you, Mr. Cunningham. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you. 

Mr. Montoya, your witness. 

For c l a r i f i c a t i o n of the record, could I have you 

scoot your c h a i r up next t o Mr. Scott Hall? 
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MR. MONTOYA: Sure. 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. MONTOYA: 

Q. Mr. Cunningham, i s J.C. Well Service a 

corporation? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. I s R. J. Enterprises a corporation? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. Okay. Has there ever been an assignment by you 

t o J.C. Well Service or R&J Enterprises of any of the o i l 

w e l l s or gas and o i l leases involved i n t h i s case? 

A. I don't know f o r sure. 

Q. Okay. You have assignment document t o g i v e t o 

the Examiner today i n d i c a t i n g t h a t John Cunningham 

p e r s o n a l l y has assigned t o J.C. Well Service any of the o i l 

and gas i n t e r e s t s involved i n t h i s case; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. No, I don't t h i n k so. 

Q. With respect t o your E x h i b i t 2 f o r the Hearing 

Examiner, you t e s t i f i e d t h a t t h i s — the E x h i b i t 2, which 

i s t he assignment of mining leases f o r a l l of the Navajo 

Nation leases and a l l of the Ute Mountain Ute leases — 

Withdraw the question. 

E x h i b i t 2 contains the assignment of mining 

leases f o r the Navajo Nation leases and the Ute Mountain 

Ute leases. Now, you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d here today t h a t 
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i n E x h i b i t 2 these assignments were t o y o u r s e l f 

i n d i v i d u a l l y ; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And none of the assignments i n E x h i b i t 2 are t o 

J.C. Well Services; i s t h a t correct? 

A. I be l i e v e t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Now, f o l l o w i n g on a question provided t o you by 

Ms. MacQuesten, I t u r n your a t t e n t i o n t o the f i r s t page of 

E x h i b i t 2, the f i r s t assignment of mining lease, and d i d 

Mr. Burson on behalf of Act i o n O i l Company, I n c . , s i g n t h a t 

assignment? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Let's make sure we're a l l on 

the same page. Which one are you r e f e r r i n g t o , Mr. 

Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: I t ' s E x h i b i t Number — Oh, excuse 

me, I've been saying 2. Okay, I misnumbered. 

Your Honor, I withdraw my l i n e of qu e s t i o n i n g and 

s t a r t a new l i n e of questioning because of the — I was 

r e f e r r i n g t o the wrong tab number. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, please do. 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) I apologize t o you, Mr. 

Cunningham. I'm loo k i n g t o E x h i b i t 3, the documents 

inclu d e d i n Tab 3. Okay? 

A. Okay. 

Q. And I ' l l s t a r t the l i n e of que s t i o n i n g again. 
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The documents included i n Tab 3 are the assignment of 

mining leases w i t h respect t o the Navajo Nation leases and 

the Ute Mountain Ute leases; i s t h a t not c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. And none of the assignments i n Tab 3 are 

assignments t o J.C. Well Service; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. I n Tab 3, the f i r s t page of Tab 3, i s — t h a t 

f i r s t assignment of mining lease t h a t i s shown, i s t h a t 

signed by A c t i o n O i l Company, In c . , by Gene Burson? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. I want t o d i r e c t your a t t e n t i o n t o the l a s t 

sentence before the paragraph a t the end t h a t says, " I n 

witness whereof..." and ask whether the document says t h i s : 

"Said assignment t o be e f f e c t i v e from the date of approval 

hereby by the Secretary of the I n t e r i o r or h i s au t h o r i z e d 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e . " 

A. That•s what i t says. 

Q. Does the same language occur on the t h i r d page of 

Tab 3, which shows an E x h i b i t 7 a t the bottom? 

A. Where, now? 

Q. I'm l o o k i n g a t Tab 3 — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — the t h i r d page. 

A. Yes. 
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Q. I s t h a t e s s e n t i a l l y the same document w i t h 

respect t o the Navajo Nation leases, w i t h respect t o some 

d i f f e r e n t o i l leases on the Navajo Nation? 

A. I'm s o r r y , one more time? 

Q. Does t h i s e x h i b i t , page 3 of Tab 3 — i s t h a t 

r e l a t e d t o Navajo Nation leases? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. Okay. And again, the same language appears t h a t 

t h e assignment i s t o be e f f e c t i v e from the date of approval 

hereby, by the Secretary of the I n t e r i o r or h i s authorized 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Turn your a t t e n t i o n t o page 5 of Tab 3, and a t 

the bottom i t says E x h i b i t 8. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, i s t h i s assignment the assignment f o r the 

Ute Mountain Ute leases — lease? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And has t h a t been signed by Mr. Burson on behalf 

of A c t i o n O i l Company, Inc.? 

A. Yes, i t has. 

Q. And does t h i s assignment have the same language 

t h a t the assignment i s t o be e f f e c t i v e from the date of 

approval hereby by the Secretary of the I n t e r i o r — 

A. I t does. 
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Q. You agree, Mr. Cunningham, t h a t your r i g h t s t o 

operate these leases on Indi a n land, d e r i v e from the 

assignment of these mining leases t h a t you have included i n 

Tab Number 3? 

MR. HALL: And I ' l l o b j e c t t o t h a t question. 

That c a l l s f o r a l e g a l conclusion on the p a r t of the 

witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any response, Mr. Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: Well, I be l i e v e t h a t ' s e x a c t l y the 

question t h a t Counsel asked of t h i s witness on d i r e c t . 

MR. HALL: No, i t ' s not. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I agree w i t h Mr. Montoya. I'm 

going t o al l o w the question. 

THE WITNESS: Okay, what — 

MR. MONTOYA: Repeat the question? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) Sure. I s n ' t i t t r u e t h a t your 

c l a i m t o the r i g h t t o operate the mining leases on I n d i a n 

land d e rives from the assignment of mining leases contained 

i n Tab 3? 

A. Yes. 

MR. MONTOYA: May I approach the witness? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Sure. 

MR. MONTOYA: Counsel, I hand these t o you, 

E x h i b i t s 1 and 2 t o the p o s i t i o n statement. 
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MR. MONTOYA: I'm r e f e r r i n g t o E x h i b i t s 1 and 2 

t o t h e p o s i t i o n — prehearing statement I submitted. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Thank you. 

MR. MONTOYA: Can we get these marked, or j u s t 

r e f e r t o them? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I ' d p r e f e r t o have them 

marked. 

MR. MONTOYA: And I've put d i f f e r e n t e x h i b i t 

numbers, but we're going t o be confusing the d i f f e r e n t — 

yeah, I — i f I may be permitted t o mark on the e x h i b i t and 

giv e i t a d i f f e r e n t e x h i b i t number. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Please, l e t ' s do t h a t , and 

those are a l l on the same page and we have copies. I'm 

assuming by your comment t h a t we a l l have copies, and they 

were provided w i t h i n the prehearing statement; i s t h a t — 

MR. MONTOYA: Yes. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — cor r e c t ? 

MR. MONTOYA: Yes, and what I'm r e f e r r i n g t o now 

are E x h i b i t s 1 and 2 t o Act i o n O i l Company, I n c . ' s , 

prehearing statement, and I'm now going t o r e - l e t t e r 

these — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

MR. MONTOYA: — t o avoid confusion. And E x h i b i t 

Number 1 t o t h a t prehearing statement i s now E x h i b i t A, and 

E x h i b i t Number 2 t o the prehearing statement i s now E x h i b i t 
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B. 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) And Mr. Cunningham, have you 

seen E x h i b i t s A and B before? 

A. Have I what, now? 

Q. Have you seen E x h i b i t s A and B before? 

A. I don't t h i n k so. 

Q. Do you dispute the a u t h e n t i c i t y of E x h i b i t s A and 

B? 

MR. HALL: Well, I'm going t o o b j e c t . I t h i n k 

i t ' s beyond the province of h i s knowledge. I ' l l s t i p u l a t e 

t o t h e i r a d m i s s i b i l i t y , i f t h a t ' s what Counsel i s a f t e r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Would t h a t s a t i s f y you? 

MR. MONTOYA: I t would. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

MR. MONTOYA: Okay, you can — Do you rec e i v e 

these t h e r e or w i t h the p o s i t i o n — w i t h the prehearing 

statement? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I f you would pass those t o — 

j u s t so t h a t we're sure — Okay, A c t i o n E x h i b i t A i s the 

United States I n t e r i o r Bureau of In d i a n A f f a i r s document 

dated February 4th up a t the top, and t h a t was given t o us 

i n the prehearing statement — "us" being the D i v i s i o n — 

as E x h i b i t 1. 

And E x h i b i t B of Act i o n O i l i s a Navajo Region 

Bureau of In d i a n A f f a i r s l e t t e r dated February the 11th. 
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Are we a l l on the same page on that ? Okay, I'm going t o 

giv e these as o f f i c i a l documents t o the c o u r t r e p o r t e r . 

Are you a d m i t t i n g them t o evidence a t t h i s p o int? 

MR. MONTOYA: Yes. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objection? 

MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: A and B of A c t i o n O i l i s so 

admitted. 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) Mr. Cunningham, as f a r as you 

are aware, A c t i o n O i l , I nc., i s the lessee of record w i t h 

respect t o the Bureau of Indi a n A f f a i r s , as of t h i s month; 

i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

MR. HALL: Again, I ' l l o b j e c t . I t c a l l s f o r a 

l e g a l conclusion. There's a l o t of import i n t h a t term, 

"lessee of record". I t h i n k we've already e s t a b l i s h e d t h a t 

Mr. Cunningham i s lessee of record by v i r t u e o f , among 

other t h i n g s , E x h i b i t 2 under our set of e x h i b i t s . 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) The question was whether the 

witness was aware. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I'm going t o a l l o w the 

qu e s t i o n i n g . 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) You're not aware of t h a t ? 

A. T e l l me again. Now, what do you want t o know? 

Q. Okay. Are you c l a i m i n g , Mr. Cunningham, t h a t the 

Bureau of In d i a n A f f a i r s has approved the assignment of the 
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Navajo Nation leases from Action O i l , I n c . , t o you? 

A. No, I'm not clai m i n g t h a t . They haven't approved 

them y e t . 

MR. MONTOYA: E x h i b i t 3 of the prehearing 

statement I am now re-marking as E x h i b i t C, and I move i t s 

admission. 

MR. HALL: I have no o b j e c t i o n . 

MS. MacQUESTEN: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: And E x h i b i t C of A c t i o n O i l i s 

the Department of I n t e r i o r , Bureau of In d i a n A f f a i r s l e t t e r 

dated October 15th, 2002, t o Carmen J. Wood. A c t i o n 

E x h i b i t C w i l l be admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time. 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) Mr. Cunningham, you are not 

cl a i m i n g t h a t the Bureau of Indi a n A f f a i r s has approved the 

assignment of the Ute Mountain Ute leases t o you from 

A c t i o n O i l , I n c . ; i s t h a t correct? 

A. No, I'm not clai m i n g t h a t . 

MR. MONTOYA: E x h i b i t 4 of the prehearing 

statement I am redesignating as E x h i b i t D, and I move i t s 

admission. 

MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t D, which i s a l e t t e r 

dated J u l y 22nd, 2003, a l e t t e r on the Navajo Nation 

l e t t e r h e a d , described as E x h i b i t D as i n d e l t a , w i l l be 

admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time. 
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Q. (By Mr. Montoya) Mr. Cunningham, you are not 

cl a i m i n g t h a t the Navajo Nation recognizes the assignment 

of t he Navajo Nation leases t o you from A c t i o n O i l , I n c . ; 

i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. They haven't y e t . 

Q. I am redesignating E x h i b i t 5 of the prehearing 

statement as E x h i b i t E, and we move i t s admission. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t l e t t e r E as i n echo, 

which i s a l e t t e r dated October 30, 2003, on Ute Mountain 

Ute T r i b a l l e t t e r h e a d , w i l l be admitted i n t o evidence a t 

t h i s time. 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) Mr. Cunningham, you are not 

cl a i m i n g here today t h a t the Ute Mountain Ute T r i b e 

recognizes the assignment of mining leases t o you from 

A c t i o n O i l , I n c . ; i s t h a t correct? 

A. No. 

Q. Now, w i t h respect t o the Ute Mountain Ute leases, 

I b e l i e v e you t e s t i f i e d here today t h a t you are s t i l l 

o p e r a t i n g those leases? 

A. BIYA i s operating now. 

Q. Okay, do you own BIYA? 

A. No. 

Q. Have you assigned the Ute Mountain Ute leases t o 

BIYA? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. You are not cl a i m i n g t h a t the Bureau of I n d i a n 

A f f a i r s has approved the assignment of the Ute Mountain Ute 

lease from you t o BIYA; i s t h a t true? 

A. Not y e t . 

Q. You're not cl a i m i n g t h a t here today? 

A. Not as y e t , they haven't approved i t . 

Q. Okay. And you're not c l a i m i n g t h a t the Ute 

Mountain Ute T r i b e has approved the assignment of the Ute 

Mountain Ute leases t o BIYA; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. I t u r n your a t t e n t i o n t o Tab 7, which i s E x h i b i t 

7, and the f i r s t page. I n the f i r s t paragraph of the 

correspondence t o you from the United States Department of 

the I n t e r i o r , i t i s t r u e t h a t the Bureau of I n d i a n A f f a i r s 

s t a t e s t h a t the documents and your a p p l i c a t i o n are being 

r e t u r n e d t o you w i t h o u t a c t i o n ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Have you received any other correspondence from 

the Department of the I n t e r i o r w i t h respect t o the 

a p p l i c a t i o n referenced i n E x h i b i t 7 since June 25th, 2003? 

A. I t h i n k so, yes. 

Q. Have you included t h a t i n your e x h i b i t l i s t here? 

A. I don't — I don't — 

MR. HALL: Could Counsel t e l l us what 

documentation you might be r e f e r r i n g to? 
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MR. MONTOYA: Well, I j u s t wanted t o know whether 

— the answer t o the question, a c t u a l l y , whether t h e r e had 

been any, any f u r t h e r correspondence between Mr. Cunningham 

and the Department of the I n t e r i o r w i t h reference t o — • 

THE WITNESS: I submitted a bond. 

MR. MONTOYA: Okay, w e l l , I ' l l r e s t a t e t he 

question. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Yes, please. Let him s t a t e 

the question, i f you would, please, s i r . 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) Now, E x h i b i t 7 i s the June 

25th, 2003, correspondence t o you from the Department of 

the I n t e r i o r ; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Have you received any other correspondence from 

the Department of the I n t e r i o r r e l a t e d t o the A p p l i c a t i o n , 

which i s referenced i n the June 25th, 2003, l e t t e r , since 

June 25th, 2003? 

A. I t h i n k we have. 

Q. Are you r e l y i n g upon t h a t documentation f o r your 

request t h a t ' s being made here today t o be the operator on 

the leases t h a t are subject t o t h i s proceeding? 

MR. HALL: I'm going t o o b j e c t t o the question. 

I t ' s a w f u l l y vague. I can't t e l l what documents Mr. 

Montoya might be speculating e x i s t , t h a t he might be 

r e l y i n g on, and I t h i n k i t ' s obvious from the response — 
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Mr. Cunningham's, t o Mr. Montoya's questions, t h a t he's not 

sure what he's t a l k i n g about. He i s not sure whether he 

got any f u r t h e r correspondence or not. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I agree w i t h Mr. H a l l i n t h i s 

case, Mr. Montoya. I f you're asking what other 

correspondence, I t h i n k perhaps i f you'd l i k e t o r e s t a t e 

your question — 

MR. MONTOYA: Sure, I ' l l r e s t a t e the question 

because i t ' s obviously confusing t o everyone, f o r which I 

apologize. 

Q. (By Mr. Montoya) I n your d i r e c t testimony, Mr. 

Cunningham, you st a t e d t h a t your a p p l i c a t i o n f o r approval 

of the mining leases t h a t are a t issue here today — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — i s s t i l l pending w i t h the Department of the 

I n t e r i o r ; i s t h a t correct? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay, and one document t h a t you submit i n support 

of your cl a i m i s E x h i b i t 7, the June 25th, 2003, 

correspondence; i s t h a t correct? 

A. I guess so, yeah. 

Q. Okay. Now, E x h i b i t 7 demonstrates t h a t t he 

documents and the a p p l i c a t i o n was retur n e d t o you w i t h o u t 

a c t i o n ; t h a t ' s c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 
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Q. Okay. Do you have any other documentation t o 

provide t o the Examiner here today t h a t demonstrates t h a t 

your a p p l i c a t i o n f o r approval of the leases referenced i n 

E x h i b i t 7 i s s t i l l pending? 

A. I t ' s been resubmitted, yes. 

Q. Okay, and do you have any correspondence from the 

Department of the I n t e r i o r i n d i c a t i n g t h a t the a p p l i c a t i o n 

i s pending? 

A. I t h i n k i t ' s i n here somewhere. 

Q. Okay. I f there i s , i t ' s i n your A p p l i c a t i o n t h a t 

you submitted here today? 

A. I t h i n k under 8 i s what you want. I s t h a t what 

you want? 

Q. Okay, i s E x h i b i t 8 the documentation t h a t you are 

r e f e r r i n g t o , t o demonstrate t h a t your a p p l i c a t i o n f o r 

approval of the assignments referenced i n E x h i b i t 7 i s 

s t i l l pending? 

A. I ' d say yes. 

Q. Okay. And E x h i b i t 8 was supplied t o you by the 

Department of the I n t e r i o r on J u l y 21st, 2003? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Do you — There's no i n d i c a t i o n on E x h i b i t 

8 t h a t you provided a copy of t h a t correspondence t o A c t i o n 

O i l , I n c . , or t o Carmen Wood; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. I don't guess so. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

48 

Q. And since J u l y 21st, 2003, have you received any 

correspondence from the Department of the I n t e r i o r w i t h 

respect t o t h a t correspondence? 

A. Not t h a t I know of. 

Q. Now, i n s t a t e c o u r t i n Aztec, you submitted an 

a f f i d a v i t t o the c o u r t t h a t s t a t e d , i n e f f e c t , t h a t the 

f i r s t time you submitted the assignments a t issue t o the 

Department of the I n t e r i o r was i n December of 2002; i s t h a t 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. What tab i s t h a t under? 

Q. I don't t h i n k you have included i t i n your tabs. 

A. I can't answer o f f the top of my head, then. 

Q. Okay. Do you dispute t h a t the f i r s t time t h a t 

you submitted the assignment documents t o the Department of 

the I n t e r i o r w i t h respect t o the Navajo Nation leases was 

i n December of 2002? 

A. No, I can't dispute i t , I don't t h i n k . I don't 

have i t i n here. 

Q. Do you have any documentation from the Bureau of 

I n d i a n A f f a i r s t h a t i n d i c a t e s t h a t any bonds t h a t you have 

submitted t o the Bureau of Indian A f f a i r s have been 

accepted by the Bureau of I n d i a n A f f a i r s ? 

A. No, not y e t . 

Q. The assignment documents f o r the Ute Mountain Ute 

leases, were those t r a n s m i t t e d by you t o the Department of 
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the I n t e r i o r , or were they t r a n s m i t t e d by BIYA? 

A. They were t r a n s m i t t e d by me. 

Q. And — 

A. Let's back up a minute. P h y s i c a l l y he took them 

up t h e r e , i f t h a t ' s what you're t a l k i n g about. But I 

signed them, yeah. 

Q. Okay, my question i s , who presented the 

assignment documents t o the Department of the I n t e r i o r w i t h 

respect t o the Ute Mountain Ute leases t h a t were assigned 

t o you by Ac t i o n O i l , Inc.? 

A. I d i d . 

Q. And when was that? 

A. I don't know, Tommy Roberts f i l e d them. I don't 

know, he f i l e d a l l those papers. I don't know f o r sure 

when he f i r s t got the deal. 

Q. Do you dispute t h a t t h a t was i n 2003? 

MR. HALL: Well, again, I'm going t o o b j e c t . 

That question has been asked and answered. He says he 

doesn't know. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I concur w i t h Mr. H a l l . 

MR. MONTOYA: Those are a l l the questions I have. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, any r e d i r e c t , Mr. Hall? 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. B r i e f l y , Mr. Cunningham. You were asked about 
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the bonding f o r the leases. I s n ' t i t t r u e t h a t t h e r e has 

always been a bond i n place f o r the Navajo and Ute Mountain 

Ute leases? 

A. Yes. 

Q. For a pe r i o d , i n f a c t — S t r i k e t h a t . 

Has the bond of Ac t i o n O i l Company, Incorporated, 

been i n place on the Navajo leases subsequent t o the 

assignment of those leases t o you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you f i l e a replacement bond w i t h the BIA a t 

any time f o r those Navajo leases? 

A. Yes, I d i d . 

Q. When, approximately? 

A. A p r i l of 2003. 

Q. Okay. Why the delay i n f i l i n g t h a t bond, t h a t 

replacement bond? Let me back up again. I t was — 

A. There was a — 

Q. Go ahead. 

A. There was a bond i n e f f e c t , A c t i o n O i l Bond was 

i n e f f e c t , and Gene t o l d me i t was paid up t i l l 2004. 

Q. Let me ask you, what i s the s i z e of the bond t h a t 

you placed f o r the Navajo leases? What's the bond amount? 

A. $75,000. 

Q. Who determined t h a t bond amount? 

A. I t came out of Steve Graham's o f f i c e . 
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Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. Told me what amount i t needed t o be. 

Q. Was there some delay on the p a r t of the BIA i n 

i n d i c a t i n g t o you what size of bond would be required? 

A. I j u s t couldn't get t h a t amount out of them. And 

f i n a l l y they came up w i t h $65,000, and I already went ahead 

and bought the $75,000, so I j u s t submitted the $75,000. 

Q. Let me make sure the answer t o my question i s 

c l e a r . Was the r e a delay on the p a r t of the BIA i n d i c a t i n g 

t o you what the s i z e of the bond would be r e q u i r e d of you? 

A. Yes, the r e was. 

Q. S u b s t a n t i a l delay? 

A. Quite a w h i l e . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . But i t remains the case t h a t those 

p r o p e r t i e s have always been bonded; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Refer b r i e f l y back t o E x h i b i t 2, so there's no 

confusion. 

The assignment here by A c t i o n O i l Company shows 

the assignment was made t o three i n d i v i d u a l s , John 

Cunningham, Ar t h u r Smalley and Jim Wilson. Did you 

subsequently acquire the Smalley and Wilson i n t e r e s t s ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And so you own 100 percent of record lease t i t l e 

and a l l of the operating r i g h t s t o the leases; i s t h a t 
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c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you have subsequently assigned the Ute 

Mountain Ute lease t o BIYA Operators? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And a l l of those leases on i t , you have submitted 

requests f o r approvals f o r a l l of the t r i b a l lease 

assignments; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. The BIA has not i n d i c a t e d t o you t h a t those 

requests have been denied; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. They have not. 

MR. HALL: That concludes my r e d i r e c t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Cross-examination, Ms. 

MacQuesten? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Thank you. 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MS. MacQUESTEN: 

Q. Mr. Cunningham, i f you could t u r n t o Tab 3, 

please, and those are the assignment documents — 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. — attempting t o t r a n s f e r the Navajo leases and 

the Ute Mountain Ute leases from A c t i o n t o some other 

e n t i t y ? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. And t h a t e n t i t y i s l i s t e d on these documents as 

Johnny Cunningham — t h a t ' s you? — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — doing business as R&J Enterprises? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So you are asking i n these documents f o r the BIA 

t o recognize Johnny Cunningham, doing business as R&J 

Ent e r p r i s e s , as the leaseholder and operator of these 

wells? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. I f you could t u r n t o E x h i b i t Number 7, now, t h i s 

i s t he l e t t e r you received from the BIA i n 2 003, asking you 

t o resubmit your A p p l i c a t i o n ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i t i s t o Mr. Cunningham and R&J Ent e r p r i s e s 

— now i t says Incorporated. I s R&J Enterprises a 

corporation? 

A. I t i s now, yes, ma'am. 

Q. Okay. So you are s t i l l asking the BIA t o 

recognize — I'm a l i t t l e confused. Are you asking them t o 

recognize you pe r s o n a l l y as the leaseholder and operator, 

or R&J Ent e r p r i s e s , Inc., as the leaseholder and operator? 

A. R&J, I guess. 

Q. R&J? Okay. But you want the OCD t o recognize 

J.C. Well Service, I n c . , as the operator; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 
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A. That's the way i t o r i g i n a l l y s t a r t e d out. 

Q. And t h a t ' s what we have i n f r o n t of us today, a l l 

the documents are J&C Well Services, I n c . ; i s n ' t t h a t 

r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, ma'am, I guess i t i s . 

Q. As f a r as your request t o the OCD i s concerned? 

A. (Nods) 

Q. So you're c u r r e n t l y asking the Bureau of I n d i a n 

A f f a i r s t o recognize R&J Enterprises, I n c . , as the 

operator, and you're asking us represent a d i f f e r e n t 

corporate e n t i t y as the operator; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Not r e a l l y , i t ' s a l l one and the same, but maybe 

i t does look t h a t way. I t ' s a l l one and the same. I own 

both ends of i t . 

Q. Well, the A p p l i c a t i o n t h a t ' s before the Examiner 

today i s from J.C. Well Services, I n c . ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, ma'am, I be l i e v e i t i s . 

Q. And the issue today i s whether J.C. Well 

Services, I n c . , should be recognized as the operator; i s n ' t 

t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, ma'am, I guess t h a t ' s r i g h t . 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Okay, thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: No f u r t h e r questions. 

MR. HALL: B r i e f r e d i r e c t on t h a t , i n view of Ms. 
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MacQuesten*s question. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. Mr. Cunningham, do you know of any r u l e of the 

D i v i s i o n t h a t p r o h i b i t s a lessee of record, an owner of 

ope r a t i n g r i g h t s and owner of working i n t e r e s t t o designate 

a t h i r d p a r t y , a f f i l i a t e d or not, t o act as i t s operator? 

Do you know of any such ru l e ? 

A. No, I do not. 

MR. HALL: A l l r i g h t , nothing f u r t h e r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: An more questions of t h i s 

witness? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Well, j u s t — I'm a l i t t l e 

confused about how i t works. Are — Have you asked the BIA 

t o recognize any p a r t i c u l a r e n t i t y as the operator of these 

we l l s ? 

MR. HALL: Well, I'm going t o o b j e c t t o t h e 

question. I t h i n k the questions posed t o the witness 

e a r l i e r , as made c l e a r by the testimony, he's asking f o r 

approval of assignments of record t i t l e , p e r i o d . That's 

a l l the assignments e f f e c t . 

MS. MacQUESTEN: So we're s t i l l s e v e ral steps 

away from the BIA naming you as an operator under — i n 

your i n d i v i d u a l capacity or under your capacity as R&J 

Ent e r p r i s e s , I n c . , or J.C. Well Services, I n c . ; i s t h a t 
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c o r r e c t ? 

MR. HALL: Do you want t o swear me in? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I'm going t o al l o w t h i s 

q u e s t i o n i n g , because I bel i e v e as the owner and operator of 

whatever the e n t i t i e s are, I bel i e v e Mr. Cunningham could 

speak f o r himself, R.J. Enterprises and J.C. Well Services. 

I'm going t o allow t h i s question. 

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry now. One more time, 

please? 

Q. (By Ms. MacQuesten) Well, i f the BIA approves 

R&J En t e r p r i s e s , I n c . , as the leaseholder, what would you 

need t o do then t o name J.C. Well Services as the operator 

f o r t he BIA? 

A. You'd j u s t have t o f i l e a desig n a t i o n of 

operator, I would assume. 

Q. So there's another step t h a t would be taken t o 

make J.C. the operator of record f o r the BIA? 

A. I be l i e v e so, yes, ma'am. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions? 

I have a couple of questions, Mr. Cunningham. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER:. 

Q. As f a r as R&J Enterprises, i s t h a t — you s a i d i t 

was a corporation? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. And are you the sole owner? 

A. Yes,. 

Q. Okay, and how about J.C. Well Services? Are you 

the sole owner of t h a t corporation? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you have any other corporations? 

A. No, I do not. 

Q. So y o u r s e l f , R.J. and — 

A. J.C. — 

Q. — J.C. Well Services, they are t o be d i r e c t e d t o 

you; i s t h a t co r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay, I see a name t h a t keeps popping up and I 

want t o make sure I know who i t i s and what r e l a t i o n s h i p 

you had w i t h t h i s gentleman, and t h a t i s , when I see A c t i o n 

O i l Company and there i s a signature, what s i g n a t u r e i s 

th a t ? I b e l i e v e you said Gene Burr? 

A. Burson. 

Q. Burson, I'm so r r y , Gene Burson. Gene Burson. 

And what was your working r e l a t i o n s h i p a t the 

time t h a t E x h i b i t Number 2 — t h a t ' s the assignment, b i l l 

of sale and conveyance, I b e l i e v e , i n 1997; i s t h a t 

c o r r e c t ? When t h i s assignment was conveyed or — 

A. Yes. 
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Q. — assigned, what was your working r e l a t i o n s h i p 

w i t h Mr. Burson a t the time? 

A. I had done some w e l l s e r v i c e and work f o r him. 

Q. So you were not an employee, you were j u s t a — 

A. I was not. I plugged some w e l l s f o r him also . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I have no other questions of 

Mr. Cunningham a t t h i s time. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Mr. Examiner, j u s t one more. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I promise, j u s t one more. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MS. MacQUESTEN: 

Q. Mr. Cunningham, you said you r e c e n t l y posted a 

bond w i t h the BIA. What name was i t posted under? 

A. R.J. Enterprises, I b e l i e v e . 

Q. Thank you. 

A. Yes, I t h i n k t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of Mr. 

Cunningham? 

MR. HALL: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You may be excused. 

Let's take a 10-minute recess a t t h i s time. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 3:04 p.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 3:20 p.m.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I apologize about t h a t . Ten 
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minutes extended i n t o something f u r t h e r . Hearing back i n 

order. Ms. MacQuesten? 

MR. HALL: A c t u a l l y , Mr. Stogner, i t ' s s t i l l my 

case a t t h i s p o i n t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Oh, I am so r r y . 

MR. HALL: I f you w i l l allow me some l a t i t u d e , I 

have some a d d i t i o n a l e x h i b i t s t o tender i n t o evidence. A l l 

of them are public-record-type documents, and I t h i n k we 

can simply discuss them w i t h you, i f y o u ' l l a l l o w t h a t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Yes, s i r . 

MR. HALL: I t h i n k i t w i l l save q u i t e a b i t of 

time. I t o l d Mr. Chavez he could keep h i s seat. I t won't 

take t h a t long, I hope. 

I n a d d i t i o n , Mr. Examiner, I t h i n k i t might be 

h e l p f u l a t t h i s p o i n t t o provide you w i t h some i n f o r m a t i o n . 

I had a n t i c i p a t e d t h a t the question of the succession t o 

lease t i t l e , the chain of t i t l e , the a p p l i c a b i l i t y of 

f e d e r a l law and the BIA and BLM r e g u l a t i o n s a p p l i c a b l e t o 

operations on t r i b a l lands and approvals of assignments and 

t r a n s f e r of operating r i g h t s might come up. Lo and behold, 

i t d i d . 

That's p a r t of what's unf o r t u n a t e about t h i s 

case, t h a t I was a f r a i d t h a t t h i s might become perceived as 

a hearing where you would be asked t o determine issues of 

f e d e r a l r e g u l a t i o n s , f e d e r a l s t a t u t e s , I n d i a n law, and even 
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t r y t o a d j u d i c a t e t i t l e . That's not what we're asking you 

t o do here, but I t h i n k i t ' s a symptom of what's happened 

i n connection w i t h the i n a p p r o p r i a t e f i l i n g of the change-

of -operator forms. 

To address those questions, I ' d l i k e t o present 

you w i t h a hearing memorandum I prepared t h a t w i l l — 

r a t h e r than having me discuss a t le n g t h the o p e r a t i o n of 

f e d e r a l law i n cases l i k e t h i s , I've t r i e d t o l a y i t out i n 

the b r i e f . 

I n a d d i t i o n , i n the b r i e f — 

MR. MONTOYA: I'm sor r y , do you have an e x t r a 

copy? 

MR. HALL: I'm sorr y . 

MR. MONTOYA: Okay, thank you. 

MR. HALL: Because t h i s has come up, i n the b r i e f 

a t page 3 there i s a se c t i o n s t y l e d Undisputed Facts. 

These f a c t s came out i n the d i s t r i c t c o u r t l i t i g a t i o n , 

pursuant t o motion p r a c t i c e t h e r e , t h a t were e i t h e r 

undisputed or unreputed. So they are e s t a b l i s h e d f a c t s as 

a matter of law now, and they provide you w i t h a f a i r l y 

s u c c i n c t summary of the succession of lease t i t l e and the 

basic f a c t s t h a t are involved here w i t h t he execution of 

the assignments, the pre s e n t a t i o n of the assignments t o the 

BIA f o r approval, e t cetera, e t cetera. 

These undisputed f a c t s c o n s t i t u t e d t he basis f o r 
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the d i s t r i c t c o urt's order wherein i t also made f i n d i n g s of 

f a c t s much l i k e these, and they are set out i n our E x h i b i t 

12, which i s already i n evidence. So w i t h t h a t , I t h i n k 

y o u ' l l have a f a i r l y concise f a c t u a l summary, upon which 

you might be i n c l i n e d t o base your own f i n d i n g s . So I 

o f f e r t h a t t o you as w e l l . 

The l e g a l discussion has t o do w i t h the issue of 

the BIA approval of t r i b a l assignments. And I can t e l l you 

from personal experience, i t ' s not a smooth p r a c t i c e . I t ' s 

a p r a c t i c e t h a t takes some time. 

You have heard questioning today t h a t p o i n t s out 

the p r o v i s i o n s on the t r i b a l assignment forms t h a t q u i t e 

c l e a r l y say t h a t the assignments are not e f f e c t i v e u n t i l 

approved by the Secretary of the I n t e r i o r . Well, I t h i n k 

t h a t ' s r i g h t only w i t h respect t o the r e l a t i o n s h i p s between 

the government lessor and the assignee. The r e l a t i o n s h i p 

between the assignor, the person executing t h e assignment, 

and the assignee are unaffected by t h a t . And we've l a i d 

out f o r you the case law, the a d m i n i s t r a t i v e law t h a t 

e s t a b l i s h e s t h a t . 

What those cases e s t a b l i s h , we've set out on our 

b r i e f , i s t h a t even though a t r i b a l assignment i s s t i l l 

pending approval before the agency, the assignee acquires 

the r i g h t s of a bona f i d e purchaser, and i t can enter i n t o 

possession of the p r o p e r t i e s , d r i l l the w e l l s , operate the 
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w e l l s and do everything t o p r o p e r l y operate a p r o p e r t y 

w h i l e the assignment i s pending approval. That's j u s t the 

r e a l i t y — the case law t h a t ' s developed from the r e a l i t y 

of assignments i n Ind i a n country on t r i b a l leases. 

I can t e l l you, I have examined t i t l e and 

rendered t i t l e opinions on more t r i b a l I n d i a n leases than I 

care t o admit, and I t h i n k any landman or other t i t l e 

examining lawyer would t e l l you t h a t i t ' s the r u l e , r a t h e r 

than the exception, t h a t when you examine t r i b a l lease 

t i t l e you w i l l see tremendous gaps from the time an 

assignment i s presented and i t ' s approved. But i n the 

meantime, an operator may have taken possession and 

operated the w e l l s . 

MR. MONTOYA: At t h i s time I'm going t o o b j e c t , 

unless we're a t the p o i n t of argument, t o a r e c i t a t i o n here 

i n some summary form of what i s being presented as f a c t s . 

So I would o b j e c t , unless we're a t the argument stage. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: No, we're not a t the argument 

stage. Ms. MacQuesten? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I concur i n t h a t o b j e c t i o n . I 

don't o b j e c t i f you inten d t o hear l e g a l argument. I would 

o b j e c t i f t h i s p r e s e n t a t i o n was t r e a t e d as testimony, as 

evidence. 

MR. HALL: I understand, Mr. Examiner. The 

purpose of my comments i s t o provide precatory i n t r o d u c t i o n 
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t o some of these e x h i b i t s , provide them w i t h context so you 

can apply t h i s e v i d e n t i a r y m a t e r i a l t o the f a c t s a t hand i n 

t h i s case. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Well, Mr. H a l l , I'm going t o 

— I agree w i t h Ms. MacQuesten and Mr. Montoya, and I w i l l 

accept what you submitted t o me today, and w i t h t h a t , I 

t h i n k what we need t o do i s move on. 

MR. HALL: A l l r i g h t . 

MR. MONTOYA: Well, w i t h respect t o the l a s t 

comment, I mean, the document c a l l e d A p p l i c a n t ' s Hearing 

Memorandum contains — which we j u s t , you know, of course, 

we j u s t received today — contains a number of items c a l l e d 

Undisputed Facts and so f o r t h . I haven't had the 

o p p o r t u n i t y t o examine what the Ap p l i c a n t i s saying i s 

undisputed f a c t s or not, nor an o p p o r t u n i t y t o respond t o 

the p o i n t s and a u t h o r i t i e s submitted, and i f i t ' s being 

t a k i n g as argument, I would have not o b j e c t i o n t o argument 

i f we would have some time i n which t o respond t o the 

argument. But I would o b j e c t t o the Examiner r e c e i v i n g 

t h i s document as evidence of any s o r t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I s your i n t e n t t o take t h i s 

back, Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: No, s i r , i t ' s not. I f you l i k e , Mr. 

Examiner, i t does contain l e g a l argument, but i t does 

c o n t a i n matters of established, adjudicated f a c t — 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, w i t h t h a t , Mr. H a l l , 

then I w i l l , subsequent t o today's hearing, a l l o w some 

a d d i t i o n a l time f o r Mr. Montoya — 

MR. HALL: Absolutely. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — and Ms. MacQuesten. 

MR. HALL: So the record i s c l e a r on t h i s , t he 

statements of f a c t i n here are based on the l e g a l 

proceedings i n the 11th J u d i c i a l D i s t r i c t Court. We can 

inc o r p o r a t e by reference those proceedings, i f you l i k e , 

and I t h i n k there's something you can take a d m i n i s t r a t i v e 

n o t i c e o f . I j u s t hate t o burden the record t o t h a t 

e x t e n t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I'm not prepared t o do t h a t a t 

t h i s time. What I ' d l i k e t o do i s hear the case a t t h i s 

p o i n t . And then, Mr. Montoya, you and Ms. MacQuesten w i l l 

have a d d i t i o n a l time subsequent t o today's hearing t o 

respond i n w r i t t e n format t o Mr. H a l l ' s memorandum. 

MR. HALL: At t h i s p o i n t , Mr. Examiner, l e t ' s go 

through the e x h i b i t s . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Now, when you say 

E x h i b i t s , are you t a l k i n g about the a d d i t i o n a l ones? 

MR. HALL: Yes. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Other than t h e i r being i n here 

and t h e i r being p u b l i c record, what do you i n t e n d t o say 

about them? 
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MR. HALL: Well, a l o t of them are going t o be 

se l f - e x p r e s s i n g , and they contain f a c t u a l m a t e r i a l , so I 

t h i n k you can take n o t i c e of. They are a l l p u b l i c 

documents. We allowed Mr. Montoya a s i g n i f i c a n t amount of 

l a t i t u d e i n g e t t i n g i n h i s p u b l i c f i l e s as w e l l . I t h i n k I 

can do t h i s i n f a i r l y short order. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: A l l r i g h t , please do so. 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, i f you w i l l r e f e r t o the 

e x h i b i t s under Tab Number 13, what these are are examples 

of the process f o r approving requests f o r lease assignments 

f o r t r i b a l I n d i a n leases. And what each of these simple 

e x h i b i t s say — and I picked these out randomly from my own 

ab s t r a c t m a t e r i a l s , but i f you go i n t o the u n d e r l y i n g base 

documents, I have summarized those on the top page w i t h an 

index spreadsheet t h a t 1 s labeled " T r i b a l Lease 

Assignments". 

The f i r s t lease assignment i s f o r a J i c a r i l l a 

T r i b a l Lease Number 417, and the evidence — the document 

i t s e l f shows t h a t the assignment was executed i n 1998 by 

B u r l i n g t o n , and i t was assignment t o Taurus E x p l o r a t i o n . 

I t ' s not approved u n t i l May 22nd, 2001. 

The next assignment document i s Lease Number 287, 

also a J i c a r i l l a t r i b a l lease. I t was executed i n 1997. 

Again, i t was not approved u n t i l March 28th, 2001, as the 

document i t s e l f i n d i c a t e s . 
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Again, there i s a Navajo lease 733, an assignment 

by EPX Company t o El Paso E x p l o r a t i o n Company. I t was 

executed i n 1984, i t was not approved by the BIA u n t i l 

1988. 

The f o l l o w i n g lease i s 7652, executed i n 1987, 

approved i n 1992. 

Et cetera, e t cetera. Those are examples, Mr. 

Stogner, of what i s customary i n terms of processing t r i b a l 

lease assignments w i t h the BIA. 

MR. MONTOYA: Mr. Examiner, since the page i s now 

turned, I w i l l o b j e c t t o the i n t r o d u c t i o n of t h i s e x h i b i t , 

because on i t s face i t ' s a document prepared by counsel, 

a c t u a l l y . I t ' s not prepared by any government agency, as 

was the p r i o r e x h i b i t s t h a t were not o b j e c t t o . So t h i s i s 

simply counsel's r e c i t a t i o n of what the f a c t s are, which i s 

c l e a r l y not evidence but argument, and should not be 

received as evidence or argument since i t concerns issues 

t h a t are not before the Hearing Examiner. 

MR. HALL: May I respond, Mr. Examiner? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Ms. MacQuesten? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I would also o b j e c t , and my 

o b j e c t i o n i s on the ground of relevance. I haven't had a 

chance t o look through a l l of the documents behind t h i s 

t a b , but i f they are, as Mr. Scott [ s i c ] says they are, 

examples of cases i n which i t took a long time f o r the BIA 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

67 

t o a c t , t h a t i s not r e l e v a n t t o t h i s case. He may be able 

t o present i s o l a t e d instances of other cases t h a t took a 

long time t o resolve. He then t e s t i f i e s t h a t t h i s i s 

customary f o r the BIA. That i s h i s i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of t h i s . 

We do not have any witness here t o t e s t i f y t h a t 

t h i s i s customary, and I f a i l t o see the relevance t o our 

p a r t i c u l a r case. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, the p o i n t has been made 

t o you by opposing counsel t h a t perhaps my c l i e n t does not 

have lease t i t l e , i t has no r i g h t t o be on the p r o p e r t i e s 

a t a l l and may not become operator and t h a t i t s A p p l i c a t i o n 

i n t h i s case should be denied. Each of these e x h i b i t s i s 

pr o b a t i v e of t h a t question of what i n d u s t r y does, what my 

c l i e n t has done, what Action O i l Company has done, w h i l e 

a w a i t i n g the approval of BIA assignments. 

I would represent t o you t h a t each of these 

documents are p u b l i c record documents, and they are 

admissible. I t h i n k you can take n o t i c e of the f a c t t h a t 

they come from BIA lease f i l e s . I hope I won't be r e q u i r e d 

t o o b t a i n a f f i d a v i t s of a u t h e n t i c i t y from the document 

custodian. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Well, Mr. H a l l , i f you keep 

pr e s e n t i n g E x h i b i t Number 13 as an e x h i b i t , then I might be 

re q u i r e d t o do t h a t . I f you're s u b m i t t i n g t h i s i n f o r m a t i o n 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

68 

f o r i n f o r m a t i o n purposes only, t o help educate me on some 

wording and what the documentation should look l i k e , then I 

do appreciate t h a t . 

But any continued — I f e e l any continued 

disc u s s i o n on t h i s , I f e e l , w i l l render somewhat of an 

opi n i o n , and I agree w i t h Ms. MacQuesten and Mr. Montoya 

w i t h t h a t . So t h a t we can get proceeding on t h i s , I w i l l 

take a d m i n i s t r a t i v e n o t i c e of what's behind Tab Number 13 

f o r the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t you have provided t h a t f o r me 

today, and only on t h a t matter. 

As f a r as what's behind 14 and through 22, other 

than examples t h a t are documentations t h a t I t h i n k speak 

f o r themselves — and t h a t was your words, i f I remember 

r i g h t — I ' d l i k e t o proceed on today. 

MR. HALL: Okay. Let's look a t the e x h i b i t under 

Tab 14, Mr. Examiner. I t has t o do w i t h the leases t h a t 

are the subject of t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n . And again, these are 

copies of p u b l i c record documents. They've been presented 

by opposing counsel i n the j u d i c i a l proceeding, so I can't 

imagine — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: So noted. How about E x h i b i t 

— How about 15? 

MR. HALL: E x h i b i t 15 — So I've discussed 

E x h i b i t 14. E x h i b i t 15 i s an assignment of a mining lease, 

also one of the leases a t issue here. I t was executed on 
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February, 1995, approved on November 1st, 1995. The f i r s t 

lease was executed 1989, not approved u n t i l 1995. These 

are the subject lands, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, how about 16? 

MR. HALL: Following t h a t — Mr. Examiner, you 

w i l l note the previous e x h i b i t s e s t a b l i s h when A c t i o n O i l 

Company may have acquired t i t l e t o the lands. I f you look 

a t t h i s e x h i b i t , i t ' s a C-104. I t was submitted t o the O i l 

Conservation D i v i s i o n i n 1993. I t i s f o r one of the w e l l s 

t h a t are on the Navajo lease. I t was submitted by A c t i o n 

O i l Company, signed by Act i o n O i l Company's p r e s i d e n t a t 

the time, Mr. Burson, and i t was approved November 8 t h , 

1993, p r i o r t o the time t h a t A c t i o n O i l Company acquired 

t i t l e . 

Now, the e x h i b i t under Tab 17, Mr. Examiner, i s 

simply f o r your convenience. I t i s a copy of Rule 1104.E, 

which i s the Rule addressing the f i l i n g of C-104, Change of 

Operator forms, and the language of the Rule i t s e l f notes 

— i t ' s t o denote a change of operator. I t ' s not t o denote 

a change of lessee. The Rule speaks f o r i t s e l f i n t h a t 

regard. 

And under Tab 18, again f o r your convenience, i s 

a blank form of the c u r r e n t form of C-104A, i n use by the 

D i v i s i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, t h a t ' s behind 17 on 
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mine, and 16 was the Rule 1104.E. 

MR. HALL: Let me get you another notebook. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. So I b e l i e v e you're on 

17 now. That's the Rule 1104.E? 

MR. HALL: Yes, we passed by t h a t . I'm on 

E x h i b i t Tab 18, i t ' s the 104.A form. Does t h a t correspond, 

Mr. Examiner? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Yeah. 

MR. HALL: You can keep both those. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

MR. HALL: Under E x h i b i t Tab 19, Mr. Examiner, i s 

a p r i n t o u t from the website of the New Mexico Taxation and 

Revenue Department discussing t h e i r o i l and gas t a x 

programs and t h e i r u t i l i z a t i o n of OGRID numbers, and i t 

describes what happens on page 2 and 3 of t h a t p r i n t o u t 

when t h e r e i s a f a i l u r e t o use the c o r r e c t OGRID number, 

i n d i c a t i n g t h a t i t could p o s s i b l y generate — w e l l , i t 

could adversely a f f e c t the taxpayers r e p o r t i n g payment 

h i s t o r y , p o t e n t i a l l y leading t o the issuance of a v i o l a t i o n 

t o the taxpayer. An i n c o r r e c t OGRID i s used by t h a t 

agency. 

Under E x h i b i t Tab 20, Mr. Examiner, i s what you 

get on the OCD's website when you search operator w e l l 

l i s t s by OGRID number. When you search the w e l l l i s t f o r 

J.C. Well Service under t h e i r OGRID number, t h e r e are no 
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w e l l s l i s t e d t h e r e . 

When you search the w e l l l i s t f o r A c t i o n O i l 

Company Incorporated's OGRID number, 25872, i t shows a l l of 

the w e l l s t h a t are the subject of t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n . 

There's no other i n d i c a t i o n i n the OCD's website 

or records, t h a t I could f i n d anyway, t h a t i n d i c a t e s where 

t a x payments are made, whether A c t i o n O i l Company i s 

a c t u a l l y r e c ording production, whether A c t i o n O i l Company 

i s r e m i t t i n g taxes and r o y a l t i e s . Simply not a v a i l a b l e . 

This i s a l l you get. 

F i n a l l y , Mr. Examiner, under E x h i b i t Tab 22 i s a 

copy of Order Number R-11,335, issued i n Case Number 

12,278, Pride Energy Case, again provided f o r your 

convenience. I t ' s a s i m i l a r s i t u a t i o n as here. I t ' s 

something I wish the D i v i s i o n t o take a d m i n i s t r a t i v e n o t i c e 

o f . 

And t h a t concludes a l l the remaining e x h i b i t s i n 

the e x h i b i t notebook, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, s i r . 

MR. HALL: At t h i s p o i n t , Mr. Examiner, I ' d 

tender i n t o evidence or request t h a t the D i v i s i o n take 

a d m i n i s t r a t i v e n o t i c e of E x h i b i t s 13 through 22. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 

MR. MONTOYA: I t i s not a request f o r them t o be 

received i n evidence, j u s t t o take n o t i c e of them? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

72 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Just t o take n o t i c e . 

MR. MONTOYA: No o b j e c t i o n . 

MS. MacQUESTEN: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: A d m i n i s t r a t i v e n o t i c e w i l l be 

made of Tabs 13 through 22, provided i n the J.C. Williams 

Services, I n c . , e x h i b i t book. Thank you. 

Anything else, Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: That concludes my case on d i r e c t , Mr. 

Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, thank you, s i r . 

Ms. MacQuesten. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I c a l l Frank Chavez. 

FRANK T. CHAVEZ, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. MacQUESTEN: 

Q. Would you s t a t e your name f o r the record, please? 

A. I am Frank T. Chavez. 

Q. And by whom are you employed? 

A. I'm employed by the New Mexico O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n as D i s t r i c t Supervisor i n the Aztec D i s t r i c t 

O f f i c e . 

Q. What counties are included i n the Aztec D i s t r i c t 

O f f i c e ? 
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A. San Juan County, Rio A r r i b a , McKinley and 

Sandoval. 

Q. And where are the w e l l s located t h a t are a t issue 

i n t h i s case? 

A. They're i n San Juan County. 

Q. What are the D i s t r i c t ' s r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s 

r e g a r d i n g approving change of operator forms f o r w e l l s 

l o c a t e d w i t h i n the D i s t r i c t ? 

A. The o f f i c e i s responsible f o r v e r i f y i n g 

i n f o r m a t i o n on any change and approving i t , the operator 

meets a l l the requirements of the r e g u l a t i o n s . 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the general process f o r 

change of operator w i t h i n the OCD? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the change-of-operator 

processes t h a t occurred i n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r case? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. Let me s t a r t w i t h the change of operator from 

A c t i o n O i l , I n c . , t o J.C. Well Service, I n c . , i n 1998. 

Have you reviewed the w e l l f i l e s f o r the w e l l s a t issue i n 

t h i s case and the change-of-operator forms t h a t appear i n 

those f i l e s ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. I ' d l i k e you t o take a look a t the documents i n 

f r o n t of you. The top document i s labeled E x h i b i t Number 
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1. And j u s t so there's nO confusion, because I 

u n f o r t u n a t e l y also used numbers f o r my e x h i b i t s , ours are 

d i s t i n g u i s h e d by the antique OCD hand stamp form t h a t w i l l 

i n d i c a t e i t ' s an OCD e x h i b i t . 

What i s E x h i b i t Number 1? 

A. E x h i b i t Number 1 i s a C-104, change i n 

operatorship of the UTE Mountain B Number 10 w e l l from 

A c t i o n O i l Company, Incorporated, t o J.C. Well Service, 

Incorporated. 

Q. This i s the t r a n s f e r of operation of a s i n g l e 

w e l l ? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. Were there s i m i l a r forms f o r the other w e l l s a t 

issue i n t h i s case? 

A. Yes, they were a l l very, very s i m i l a r , w i t h j u s t 

the change f o r the s p e c i f i c w e l l . 

Q. A l l r i g h t , w e l l , I ' l l use t h i s one as an example, 

then, and ask you t o go through i t . This was f i l e d by who? 

A. I t was f i l e d by Mr. Cunningham as J.C. Well 

Service i n our o f f i c e on June 3rd, 1998. 

Q. And i f you'd look a t the very bottom of the form, 

there's an area f o r the p r i o r operator t o s i g n o f f on the 

change; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t , t h a t was signed by Mr. Gene 

Burson. 
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Q. And who was he representing? 

A. He's the president of A c t i o n O i l Company, 

Incorporated, a t t h a t time. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Was t h i s change of operator approved 

by the D i s t r i c t ? 

A. Yes, i t was, i t was approved e f f e c t i v e t h e same 

date i t was received. 

Q. Now, would you have reviewed t h i s personally? 

A. No, our process i s t h a t the s t a f f takes a look a t 

the document t h a t ' s presented f o r change, v a l i d a t e s the 

i n f o r m a t i o n t o be sure a t t h i s p a r t i c u l a r time t h a t a l l the 

w e l l s w i t h i n the property were changed, i f i t appeared t o 

be the i n t e n t . I f there were questions about t h a t , we 

would contact the operator i n case th e r e might have been a 

missed document, or a document may be submitted on a 

plugged w e l l and we don't change operators on plugged 

w e l l s , and once t h a t process i s complete, i n c l u d i n g 

d e t e r m i n a t i o n , i f t h i s was on s t a t e or fee lands, t h a t 

t h e r e was appropriate bonding w i t h the State, then we 

approve i t . 

Q. I f i t ' s not located on s t a t e or fee land, do you 

check f o r bonding information? 

A. No, we don't. 

Q. Why i s that ? 

A. We're not req u i r e d t o do t h a t under our 
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r e g u l a t i o n s . Wells t h a t are not on s t a t e or fee lands do 

not r e q u i r e s t a t e plugging bonds. 

Q. I s t h a t Regulation 101? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. I s i t your understanding t h a t a bond i s i n place 

f o r w e l l s t h a t are on t r i b a l lands? 

A. Yes, over the years our r e l a t i o n s h i p w i t h the 

Bureau of Land Management as t r u s t e e on I n d i a n lands, they 

assure under t h e i r r e g u l a t i o n s t h a t the w e l l s and operators 

are bonded a p p r o p r i a t e l y . 

Q. G e t t i n g back t o t h i s p a r t i c u l a r change-of-

operator form, i f your o f f i c e receives a change-of-operator 

form l i k e t h i s t h a t was signed o f f by the p r i o r operator, 

would you request any a d d i t i o n a l i n f o r m a t i o n r e g a r d i n g the 

change? 

A. No, we wouldn't. 

Q. So the approval i n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r case was, as 

f a r as you can t e l l , a standard approval? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Nothing unusual about i t ? 

A. Nothing unusual, no. 

Q. And t h i s was i n June of 1998? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Let's move t o the next event t h a t happened 

between these two companies. I ' d l i k e you t o look a t 
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E x h i b i t Number 2, and t h i s i s a change-of-operator form i n 

2003; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. Changing the operator from A c t i o n — from J.C. 

back t o Action? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Now, J.C. had been the operator of the w e l l since 

1998, u n t i l 2003, as f a r as the OCD was concerned? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Were you pe r s o n a l l y i n v o l v e d i n the 

change-of-operator process i n 2 003 — 

A. Yes, I was. 

Q. — f o r t h i s well? Could you t e l l us how t h a t 

came about? 

A. Carmen Wood came i n t o my o f f i c e , and she had 

p a r t i a l l y completed — I'm j u s t going by my r e c o l l e c t i o n . 

The form was e i t h e r p a r t i a l l y completed or j u s t blank. And 

we sat down i n my o f f i c e t o go through how t o f i l l the form 

out, what i n f o r m a t i o n was needed. And f o r example, even a t 

the top as we were going through t h i s , as we were passing 

the document back and f o r t h , i t ' s my ha n d w r i t i n g t h a t shows 

a new OGRID number, because she hadn't r e a l i z e d t h a t t h a t 

wasn't on the documents t h a t had already been sent t o her 

by our Santa Fe s t a f f when she had contacted them about the 

operator change. 
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As we went through t h i s and we got t o the bottom 

p o r t i o n of the document, back and f o r t h f i l l i n g t h i s out, I 

sa i d , Well, what about the s i g n o f f from Mr. Cunningham, 

J.C. Well Service? 

She — I remember — again, exact conversation, 

we were going through t h i s document and she presented me 

w i t h some other documents, and i t took a l i t t l e w h i l e f o r 

me t o get through those, and they're f u r t h e r down i n the 

e x h i b i t p i l e . 

But I sa i d , So apparently there's some c o n t e n t i o n 

here about who's the operator of the w e l l . 

And she says, Well, yes, there's an issue because 

of what had happened w i t h her divorce and some — and what 

these documents showed t h a t she presented t o me. 

And I sai d , So t h e r e f o r e Mr. Cunningham i s not 

going t o sig n t h i s ? 

And I don't remember, again, the exact words, but 

yes, b a s i c a l l y Mr. Cunningham was not going t o s i g n t h i s . 

And supporting documents t h a t she had would 

i n d i c a t e t h a t A c t i o n O i l should be — c o n v i n c e d me t h a t 

A c t i o n O i l Company was the appropriate operator a t t h a t 

time. 

So as I had the document, I guess, I asked her, 

Does t h a t mean he's r e a l l y , I guess, not a v a i l a b l e t o s i g n , 

whatever? 
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And she sai d , Well, I guess — something along 

those l i n e s . 

At t h a t p o i n t , t h a t i s my ha n d w r i t i n g . And I 

s a i d , Now, does t h a t appear t o be what would be 

appropriate? 

And she sai d , Well, yes, t h a t would work. 

I s a i d , Okay, and are you then going t o sig n o f f 

t h a t t h i s i s t r u e and correct? 

And she sai d , Well, t h a t ' s r i g h t . 

And then she signed the document. 

Q. Okay. Before we get t o the supporting documents 

t h a t Ms. Wood presented t o you, I have a couple of 

questions about t h i s change-of-operator form. 

A. Okay. 

Q. I t looks d i f f e r e n t from the other form t h a t was 

used. Can you e x p l a i n what t h i s second form i s used f o r ? 

A. We've changed our processes because of the amount 

of a d m i n i s t r a t i v e burden t h a t was placed on us, having t o 

handle one C-104 f o r a l o t of w e l l s , and we're a n t i c i p a t i n g 

more w e l l s being — operator change on many groups of 

w e l l s . 

So i n order t o ease our a d m i n i s t r a t i v e burdens i n 

handling t h a t , we re v i s e d a new process which included a 

C-104A by which, whenever a l l of the w e l l s t h a t are 

operated by a c e r t a i n operator i s going t o be changed, we 
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could use a C-104A document and then have an attached l i s t 

of w e l l s t h a t i s v e r i f i e d by the OCD and the operator t h a t 

these are — t h a t t h i s i s c o r r e c t , t h a t i t i s a l l of the 

w e l l s t h a t are included. And we use only one document 

r a t h e r than having t o process a C-104 f o r each w e l l . 

Q. I s E x h i b i t 3 the l i s t of w e l l s t h a t was attached 

t o t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, i t i s . I t was — This l i s t i s a c t u a l l y 

generated by the OCD and was sent t o Carmen Wood t o v e r i f y 

t h a t these are the w e l l s t h a t were intended t o be used or 

changed, and we — as long as we a l l agree w i t h the OCD and 

OCD records and the operator records t h a t these are 

c o r r e c t , then we can approve the 104. The process f o r t h i s 

i s on our website. 

Q. Now, t h i s l i s t looks a l i t t l e b i t s h o r t e r than 

the l i s t i n the A p p l i c a t i o n f o r t h i s case today. Can you 

e x p l a i n t h a t ? 

A. Yes, the w e l l s t h a t are not shown here are w e l l s 

t h a t are already plugged and abandoned, and we do not 

change the operator on plugged and abandoned w e l l s . So the 

l i s t i n the A p p l i c a t i o n includes plugged and abandoned 

w e l l s . 

Q. Let me ask you t o take a look a t E x h i b i t s 4 

through 9, and I would ask you i f those are the documents 

t h a t Ms. Wood presented t o you when she came i n w i t h her 
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a p p l i c a t i o n f o r change of operator. 

A. Yes, these appear t o be the documents t h a t I d i d 

re c e i v e a t t h a t time. However, I t h i n k some of the 

f o l l o w i n g e x h i b i t s may also have been included i n t h a t 

group. By the dates I'm t h i n k i n g t h a t Number 12 and 13 may 

have been included i n t h a t group also. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: What 12 and 13 are you — 

THE WITNESS: E x h i b i t 12 and E x h i b i t 13, excuse 

me. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, now — 

THE WITNESS: There was — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — l e t ' s make sure, because 

I've got E x h i b i t — You were l a s t t a l k i n g about E x h i b i t 4. 

F l i p over next — You've got E x h i b i t 5. 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: And you proceed on, go over t o 

— and I use the c l a s s i c handstamp i n s i g n i a of E x h i b i t 7 — 

THE WITNESS: I'm sor r y — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — there's an E x h i b i t 12. 

THE WITNESS: — I see — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: So l e t ' s make sure they're a l l 

the same — 

THE WITNESS: — I'm so r r y , I'm l o o k i n g a t the 

wrong numbers. I'm confusing them, Mr. Examiner. I'm 

so r r y . 
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Q. (By Ms. MacQuesten) I'm s o r r y f o r the confusion. 

Let me ask you t h i s : When Ms. Wood brought i n the 

documents, were some of them already showing e x h i b i t stamps 

on them? 

A. I don't r e c a l l whether they d i d or not, but now 

t h a t I am p u t t i n g these back together i n a c e r t a i n order 

here, t h i s i s complete, excuse me. 

Q. Okay, and we're t a l k i n g — 

A. 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9. Okay, and I'm s o r r y . 

Q. Okay. 

A. I'm s o r r y , what was your o r i g i n a l question? 

Q. F i r s t I wanted t o v e r i f y i f these were the 

documents t h a t Ms. Wood brought w i t h her — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — when she was applying f o r the change of 

operatorship? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. Now, j u s t t o speed t h i n g s up, because some of 

these documents have already been introduced by other 

p a r t i e s i n t h i s a c t i o n , r a t h e r than go through each one, 

these documents include correspondence between A c t i o n and 

sev e r a l BIA o f f i c e s and the Navajo Nation; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That's r i g h t , plus a memorandum t o the BLM 

o f f i c e , San Juan Resources, from the Ute Mountain Agency. 

So t h a t i s not between A c t i o n and the T r i b e . 
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Q. Okay, which e x h i b i t i s t h a t ? 

A. That i s E x h i b i t Number 5. 

Q. Okay. And t o summarize, what d i d these documents 

i n d i c a t e t o you regarding whether BIA recognized A c t i o n as 

t h e operator of the w e l l s on the Ute Mountain Ute lease and 

the Navajo lease? 

A. They i n d i c a t e d t o me t h a t A c t i o n O i l Company was 

the a p p r o p r i a t e operator of the w e l l s t h a t we approved a 

w e l l , t h a t were the subject of the 104A. 

Q. And d i d these documents i n d i c a t e t o you whether 

BIA had a bond i n place and who had t h a t bond? 

A. Yes they d i d . 

Q. And who was t h a t ? 

A. A c t i o n O i l . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Now, I b e l i e v e the one e x h i b i t i n 

t h i s packet t h a t we haven't seen i n other p r e s e n t a t i o n s i s 

E x h i b i t Number 4, so I ' d l i k e t o ask you some questions 

s p e c i f i c a l l y about t h a t . Can you t e l l me what t h a t 

document is? 

A. I t ' s a copy of a l e t t e r sent by Mr. Tom Montoya 

t o Ms. Bancroft, who was the superintendent of the 

Department of the I n t e r i o r BIA O f f i c e of the Ute Mountain 

Agency. And i n t h a t l e t t e r i t advises Ute Mountain Agency 

t h a t Mr. Cunningham nor R.J. Enterprises nor Baldwin nor 

others are authorized as employees, agents, operators or 
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representatives of Action O i l . 

Q. At the time you approved the change of operator 

from J.C. Well Service t o Action, did you have any 

additional information? 

A. At that time I didn't. This — To me, the BIA 

l e t t e r s were rather d e f i n i t i v e as to who was the operator 

of the w e l l . I n our relationship with the Bureau of Land 

Management as trustee, i t i s important that we hold the 

same operator responsible, as a responsible party i n the 

operation of these properties. I f there's an enforcement 

issue or v i o l a t i o n , we have to be able t o both address the 

same responsible party f o r those. 

Q. Now, I heard you mention two d i f f e r e n t e n t i t i e s , 

the BIA and the BLM. Could you t e l l me what OCD's 

rela t i o n s h i p i s with each agency? How does the OCD 

in t e r a c t with those two en t i t i e s ? 

A. We int e r a c t mostly with the BLM, because as 

trustee of the o i l and gas leases that are issued by the 

BIA, the BLM i s responsible f o r approving development and 

operation of o i l and gas operations on those leases, 

approving the permits to d r i l l , approving other actions, 

workovers on wells, and enforcing t h e i r regulations, even 

taking enforcement action. 

Our relationship with the BIA has developed a 

l i t t l e b i t d i f f e r e n t l y , because they are a leasing agency. 
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We've worked with them before t o recover bonds t h a t are on 

Indian leases, f o r the purposes of reimbursing the 

reclamation fund, whenever the OCD plugs wells using 

reclamation-fund money on Indian lands. So we've worked 

with the BIA on that . 

Q. Could you give us an example of how you 

coordinated enforcement a c t i v i t i e s with the BLM? 

A. I t ' s done on a da i l y basis on most issues. For 

example, once the BLM approves a permit t o d r i l l , they send 

a copy of that t o our o f f i c e f o r OCD review, t o be sure 

tha t also the approved operation i s i n compliance with 

State regulations, with OCD regulations and requirements. 

Sundry notices are handled the same way when 

they're asking — when an operator i s requesting f o r 

approval of special operation on a w e l l . 

When there are incidents that involve releases, 

such as o i l s p i l l s , we coordinate with the BLM quite often 

t o assure tha t the remediation operations are conducted i n 

accordance with both State and BLM requirements. We work 

together quite often t o establish common requirements, f o r 

example, f o r casing and cementing of wells. We've worked 

with the BLM when there have been enforcement a c t i v i t i e s , 

such as a large dumping incident that occurred i n San Juan 

County, and the BLM sent an investigator and we worked 

together on that issue. 
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On In d i a n lands, i t ' s no d i f f e r e n t than on other 

lands which the BLM i s responsible f o r on f e d e r a l lands, 

l e t ' s say, and when issues a r i s e we coordinate w i t h them. 

C u r r e n t l y we have a very b i g c o o r d i n a t i o n p r o j e c t i n v o l v i n g 

the BLM o f f i c e i n Farmington and Durango, and both t he 

Navajo and the Ute Tribes, concerning i n a c t i v e w e l l s and 

reclamation fund p r o j e c t s i n the Verde-Gallup and 

Horseshoe-Gallup f i e l d s , where there are over 100 w e l l s 

t h a t cross lease l i n e s , t r i b a l lands, even i n v o l v e s some 

f e d e r a l and s t a t e leases and lands. And we've coordinated 

t o g e t h e r w i t h a l l those e n t i t i e s t o assure t h a t we have a 

program t o address the i n a c t i v e w e l l s as p a r t of an 

enforcement program. 

Q. When you say i n a c t i v e w e l l s , are you r e f e r r i n g t o 

OCD Rule 201? 

A. Yes, the 200 s e r i e s , yes. 

Q. I s the r e a s i m i l a r s e r i e s t h a t the BLM has 

regardi n g i n a c t i v e wells? Who enforces i n a c t i v e wells? 

BLM or OCD? 

A. We both do. Our requirements are s i g n i f i c a n t - — 

Well, they have some d i f f e r e n c e s . I hate t o c h a r a c t e r i z e 

i t as s i g n i f i c a n t , because we're t r y i n g t o accomplish the 

same end, t o assure t h a t a w e l l t h a t i s i n a c t i v e i s e i t h e r 

r e t u r n e d t o production a f t e r a pe r i o d of time, or i t proves 

mechanical i n t e g r i t y so t h a t i t stays — so i t can remain 
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i n a c t i v e u n t i l the operator can reach a d e c i s i o n of what t o 

do w i t h the w e l l . 

But we've been c o o r d i n a t i n g our i n a c t i v e program 

w i t h the BLM f o r several years so t h a t the operators are 

aware t a t they have t o meet both State and BLM requirements 

i n t h e i r operations. 

Q. I f an operator of a w e l l on t r i b a l land i s out of 

compliance w i t h 201, does the OCD take the operator t o 

hearing and an enforcement action? 

A. Yes, we do. 

Q. What would happen i f we sought enforcement 

against one operator, the operator we showed as record, and 

the operator the BLM showed as the operator of record was 

d i f f e r e n t ? 

A. I t would create a s i g n i f i c a n t amount of confusion 

and might end up i n a — Well, I don't know what i t would 

end up as, but i t would be a very i n e f f e c t i v e way f o r us t o 

handle i t . I t ' s hard t o p r e d i c t e x a c t l y what would happen 

i n t h a t case, but i t wouldn't allow us t o coordinate our 

a c t i v i t i e s against a s i n g l e responsible p a r t y . 

Q. How do you coordinate the f i n a n c i a l assurances 

w i t h , I suppose, the BIA i n t h a t case; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. How does t h a t work? 

A. What we've done i n the past i s , when we've 
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s t a r t e d w i t h a reclamation-fund p r o j e c t on t r i b a l lands i s , 

a t the beginning we work w i t h the BLM t o be sure t h a t the 

plugging program t h a t we propose t o pay f o r out of -

reclamation-fund money i s also i n compliance w i t h t h e i r 

r e g u l a t i o n s . 

We work w i t h the BIA t o address the issue how we 

are going t o be reimbursed from the bonding, once the BIA 

s t a r t s the f o r f e i t u r e process or has already gone through 

t h e f o r f e i t u r e process t o reimburse us. We even work w i t h 

the Navajo EPA on the Navajo w e l l s , so we were — several 

agencies involved we had t o coordinate w i t h , t o be sure 

t h a t the f i n a n c i a l assurance was handled a p p r o p r i a t e l y so 

t h a t the reclamation fund was reimbursed from the bond and 

t h a t the a c t u a l work t h a t was done s a t i s f i e d the t r i b a l 

e n t i t i e s , the f e d e r a l e n t i t i e s and our own requirements. 

Q. For us t o plug a w e l l , are we able t o j u s t go out 

and p l u g a w e l l , or do we need an order t o allow us t o do 

i t ? 

A. Under the s t a t u t e we need an order t o plug a 

w e l l . 

Q. Then you — 

A. Excuse me, unless i t ' s an emergency. 

Q. Okay. Assuming i t ' s a nonemergency and we were 

t o o b t a i n an order, who would we o b t a i n i t against? 

A. We go against the operator of record t h a t we have 
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i n our records i n OCD. 

Q. What would happen i f we got such an order against 

the operator of record t h a t we showed, and the BIA and BLM 

had a d i f f e r e n t operator of record? 

A. Again, i t would be the same type of confusion 

t h a t e n f o r c i n g the order would be maybe very d i f f i c u l t t o 

do. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . We've t a l k e d about enforcement 

matters, but I wanted t o ask you about other areas where 

the OCD and the BLM i n t e r a c t . Does the BLM recognize OCD 

decisions on o i l and gas spacing matters, such as the 

s e t t i n g of spacing, approval of exception l o c a t i o n s , 

approval of nonstandard spacing u n i t s and compulsory 

pooling? 

A. Yes, i t does, along — i n two ways. On f e d e r a l 

lands they accept t h a t w i t h those s p e c i a l issues. On 

In d i a n lands we have a memorandum of understanding under 

which we coordinate w i t h the BLM f o r those matters on 

In d i a n lands. 

Q. Would any complications a r i s e i f we were i s s u i n g 

such orders on operators of record t h a t we showed as 

operators of record, w h i l e the BLM showed d i f f e r e n t 

operators of record? 

A. Yes, again the same confusion would a r i s e . 

Q. Once you decided t o grant the change-of-operator 
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from J.C. back t o Ac t i o n , d i d you n o t i f y J.C? 

A. No, i t has never been our procedure w i t h i n OCD t o 

n o t i f y the previous operator when there's been an operator 

change. We — I f the 104 had been used f o r a t r a n s p o r t e r 

change i n past time, we never d i d t h a t e i t h e r . We j u s t 

accept t h a t document and don't go through a process of 

n o t i f y i n g the previous operator. 

Q. Did i t give you concern t h a t i n t h i s case t h e r e 

obviously was a p r i o r operator s t i l l i n existence t h a t had 

a d i f f e r e n t view of the matter? 

A. Not r e a l l y , not w i t h the document — the evidence 

t h a t Carmen Wood brought me. We ran i n t o the issue before 

where t h e r e may be operators who have a d i f f e r e n c e of 

op i n i o n who may operate. Plus we have the issue where 

t h e r e may be an operator who's no longer a v a i l a b l e through 

bankruptcy, d i s s o l u t i o n of the company, whatever, and t h e r e 

i s nobody t o sig n . 

Also there's a c o n d i t i o n t h a t hasn't a r i s e n i n my 

d i s t r i c t y e t , where there could be a c o u r t order t h a t would 

designate an operator of record t h a t we would have t o then 

take a look a t t o see how we would handle the 104. 

Q. What was your understanding as t o whether J.C. 

had n o t i c e t h a t Ms. Wood was going t o seek a change of 

operator? 

A. I n my conversation w i t h her — and again, I don't 
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remember the exact wording, but i t was c l e a r t o me t h a t 

t h e r e were some d i f f e r e n c e s between her and Mr. Cunningham 

over who was going t o be operator of these w e l l s . 

Q. Now t h a t approval was granted i n J u l y of 2003; i s 

t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, i t was. 

Q. Have you received any subsequent i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t 

would lead you t o change your mind about what you d i d w i t h 

t h a t change of operator? 

A. No, a c t u a l l y the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t I've since then 

a f f i r m s and confirms t h a t i t i s the — I made the — i t was 

the a p p r o p r i a t e d e c i s i o n t h a t I made. I have reviewed — 

I've also reviewed the OCD records t h a t we have f o r — the 

w e l l f i l e s f o r those w e l l s and have discovered q u i t e a b i t 

of i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t again supports my o r i g i n a l d e c i s i o n . 

I f I could jump t o E x h i b i t Number — I don't 

know, i s t h i s 16 or 15, an e-mail t h a t I received from — 

Q. 16. 

A. Okay 16? 

Q. I t ' s the very l a s t e x h i b i t i n the packet. 

A. Okay, thank you. What t h i s i s i s an e-mail where 

I forward t o you a note t h a t I received from Mr. Jim 

Lovato, who's a petroleum engineer f o r the Bureau of Land 

Management i n the Farmington o f f i c e . 

I don't know i f I need t o read i t i n t o the 
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record, but b a s i c a l l y i t s t a t e s t h a t Mr. — l e t ' s see, the 

operator of record i s s t i l l A c t i o n O i l Company, under p o i n t 

number 1. 

Point number 2 i s t h a t although lease assignments 

from A c t i o n t o J.C. were executed i n 1998, they weren't 

f i l e d u n t i l December of 2003 w i t h the BIA i n Window Rock. 

Now — 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, a t t h i s p o i n t I'm going 

t o o b j e c t . There i s double hearsay w i t h i n t h i s e x h i b i t . 

They can't a u t h e n t i c a t e t h i s . I o b j e c t t o i t s even being 

discussed a t t h i s p o i n t . 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Mr. Examiner, I'm not o f f e r i n g 

i t f o r the t r u t h of the matter asserted. I'm o f f e r i n g i t 

as evidence of what Mr. Chavez had i n f r o n t of him 

regarding t h i s case t h a t l e d him not t o change h i s mind 

about the d e c i s i o n he made t o change the operator from J.C. 

t o A c t i o n . 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, the problem s t i l l 

remains t h a t these are statements of a witness not making 

hims e l f a v a i l a b l e f o r cross-examination. I f r a n k l y can 

disagree w i t h h i s conclusions i n here, but I don't have the 

o p p o r t u n i t y t o discuss the a p p l i c a b l e f e d e r a l CFRs w i t h 

them. We can't admit t h i s . There are statements from two 

d i f f e r e n t u n a v ailable witnesses. I would o b j e c t t o t h i s . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. H a l l , however 
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I'm going t o o v e r r u l e your o b j e c t i o n and a l l o w t h i s . Many 

times do we have t o include i n your a p p l i c a t i o n s f i l e d w i t h 

me — do I have t o take what i s submitted t o me. 

Please continue, Ms. MacQuesten. 

Q. (By Ms. MacQuesten) To summarize from E x h i b i t 

Number 16, nothing t h a t you received i n t h i s e-mail from 

the BLM l e d you t o be l i e v e t h a t you'd made the wrong 

d e c i s i o n , or l e d you t o b e l i e v e you needed t o change your 

decision? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . I also reviewed the w e l l f i l e s 

f o r t he w e l l s i n question, and I found t h a t several times 

Mr. Cunningham f i l e d documents under the name A c t i o n O i l 

Company w i t h the Bureau of Land Management. 

Q. Why d i d those documents show up i n OCD f i l e s ? 

A. As a standard procedure i n our cooperation w i t h 

the BLM, they forward t o us copies of sundry n o t i c e s of a l l 

w e l l s — t h a t they receive f o r any w e l l s i n New Mexico. 

Q. I ' d l i k e you t o take a look a t what has been 

marked as OCD E x h i b i t Number 10 — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — 11, 12, 13 and 14 and ask you i f those are 

documents t h a t you p u l l e d from the w e l l f i l e s on the w e l l s 

i n t h i s case. 

A. Yes. I n f a c t , these are on our imaging system, 

and they're a v a i l a b l e as p u b l i c record. Also of note i s , 
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these are the only sundry notices t h a t Mr. Cunningham has 

f i l e d w i t h the BLM on any of these w e l l s since the operator 

change. 

These — The other w e l l s , f o r which I do not have 

any sundry n o t i c e s , have had no documents i n our records 

since the 104 change t o J.C. Well Service u n t i l the change 

t o A c t i o n O i l . 

So a l l — what I would say i s , a l l of the 

documents t h a t we have, t h a t Mr. Cunningham f i l e d on these 

w e l l s , a f t e r the change of operator, show A c t i o n O i l 

Company, not J.C. Well Service. 

Q. When you say they show Ac t i o n O i l Company, are 

you r e f e r r i n g t o the Name of Operator l i n e on the form? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And then the signature l i n e shows what? 

A. I t shows John Cunningham, Operator. 

Q. I n loo k i n g a t E x h i b i t Number 10, t h a t i s dated 

8-22 of 1999? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I f you look a t the next e x h i b i t , Number 11, and 

check the l i n e number 2, the Name of Operator, what does 

t h a t show? 

A. I t shows Ac t i o n O i l Company, Incorporated. That 

i s s t r u c k through, and J.C. Well Service i s w r i t t e n on 

th e r e . But I do recognize t h a t h andwriting. Mrs. Dorothy 
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Jacquez, who works f o r me and handles these documents as 

they come i n , w i l l o f t e n make c o r r e c t i o n s t o the documents, 

and as you can see there's a c o r r e c t i o n also t o the API 

number. And as we process these documents, i f t h e r e needs 

t o be a c o r r e c t i o n or change she w i l l do t h a t . 

Q. Now, what i s the date on t h i s document? 

A. This one was submitted — I t ' s signed by Mr. 

Cunningham on December 11th, 1998. We received i t i n our 

o f f i c e on December 16th, 1998. The BLM stamp of r e c e i p t i s 

a t the top of t h a t document, showing t h a t they received i t 

December 11th, the same date t h a t he signed i t . 

Q. I s t h a t d u r i n g the time p e r i o d when we recognized 

J.C. Well Service as the operator of record a t OCD? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And so the woman i n your o f f i c e was doing what 

she f e l t was necessary t o c o r r e c t — 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. — t o c o r r e c t i t ? 

A. A document l i k e t h i s , being t h a t t he type of 

in f o r m a t i o n t h a t ' s on here i s a matter of record, t h a t we 

put i n t o the record, i t doesn't r e q u i r e our t e c h n i c a l 

review or approval of the a c t i o n t h a t ' s on i t . So t h i s 

type of a document, when she receives i t she j u s t passes i t 

on. 

Q. I n loo k i n g a t E x h i b i t s 12, 13 and 14, are those 
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other examples of noti c e s t h a t were f i l e d by Mr. Cunningham 

under the name of Ac t i o n Oil? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. I f you could look a t E x h i b i t Number 15, the la r g e 

packet t h a t i s l e f t , where d i d these documents come from? 

A. These are i n the w e l l f i l e f o r the King Kong Well 

Number 20. 

Q. What do they r e l a t e to? 

A. They r e l a t e t o the a p p l i c a t i o n f o r i n j e c t i o n t h a t 

was f i l e d f o r t h a t p a r t i c u l a r w e l l w i t h the Region 9 EPA 

o f f i c e i n San Francisco, which i s responsible f o r t he 

Navajo Reservation. 

Q. I s t h a t the United States EPA? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And what name i s shown f o r t he appl i c a n t ? 

A. I n s i d e i t says Johnny Cunningham. I'm s o r r y , the 

top page of E x h i b i t 15 shows John Cunningham, A c t i o n O i l 

Company, care of J.C. Operating Company. 

Q. Are bonds re q u i r e d f o r i n j e c t i o n w e l l permits 

through the EPA? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. Does t h i s packet i n d i c a t e whether a bond was i n 

place? 

A. Yes, i t does, i t r e f e r s t o i t i n t e r i o r l y , i f 

y o u ' l l a l l o w me t o t u r n through here — I'm s o r r y , I don't 
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know what page number i t i s , but i n t e r i o r l y a page a t the 

top says Section F, F i n a n c i a l R e s p o n s i b i l i t y . I t says the 

a p p l i c a n t has fur n i s h e d t o BIA c o l l e c t i v e bond i n the sum 

of $75,000. 

Q. And what i s the approximate time frame of t h i s 

document? 

A. This was a f t e r Mr. Cunningham had f i l e d h i s 104, 

changing operator of t h i s w e l l t o J.C. Well Service from 

A c t i o n O i l Company. 

Q. Okay. I f you look a t the cover page, what date 

i s t h a t on t h a t page? 

A. I t ' s dated a t the top November 10th, 1999. 

Q. So any bond t h a t was i n place a t t h a t time would 

have been an a c t i o n bond? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Which would match the name of the a p p l i c a n t as 

presented t o the EPA? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. So on the issue of who the OCD should recognize 

as the operator of the w e l l s a t issue today, you have 

before you i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t the BLM regards A c t i o n as the 

operator f o r w e l l s on the Navajo lease and the Ute Mountain 

lease; i s t h a t correct? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. You have i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t the BIA regards A c t i o n 
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as the operator f o r wells on the Navajo lease and the Ute 

Mountain lease? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. And that the BIA has a bond provided by Action as 

the operator of those leases? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And you also have information t h a t the EPA has 

received an application from Action as operator seeking a 

permit f o r an i n j e c t i o n w e l l , r e l y i n g on Action's BIA bond? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Your understanding, i f the BIA recognizes a 

p a r t i c u l a r operator, do other federal e n t i t i e s such as the 

BLM and the EPA recognize the same operator? 

A. That i s my understanding, yes. 

Q. And r i g h t now the information that we have i s 

th a t BIA recognizes Action. What i f at some point i n the 

future the BIA recognized J.C. Well Service as the 

operator? Would you approve the change of operator t o J.C. 

Well Service? 

A. Well, yes. And that's an i n t e r e s t i n g question 

because we had already approved a C-104 f o r J.C. Well 

Service, and i n retrospect a more appropriate action might 

have been actually, since his assignments didn't go 

through, t o rescind the 104's that we had o r i g i n a l l y 

approved f o r J.C. Well Service, rather than create a new — 
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than t o have re-authorized A c t i o n O i l Company. 

Q. I f J.C. came i n w i t h a new a p p l i c a t i o n a t some 

p o i n t i n the f u t u r e , though, w i t h evidence showing t h a t 

they were recognized as the operator, would you gra n t t h a t 

a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes. At t h i s time also I would also v e r i f y , 

because of the process. This i s the f i r s t time t h a t an 

issue l i k e t h i s has come up i n v o l v i n g I n d i a n leases, and I 

t h i n k we w i l l reconsider our processes t o inc l u d e t he 

involvement more c l o s e l y w i t h the BLM t o be sure t h a t we 

are both h o l d i n g the same person responsible f o r t h e 

operations of those w e l l s . 

Q. I s i t r e l e v a n t t o your d e c i s i o n t h a t t h e r e i s a 

dis p u t e between A c t i o n and J.C. regarding t r a n s f e r of the 

lease and assignment of the lease? 

A. Not a t t h i s , according t o the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t I 

have. 

Q. So you r e l y s o l e l y on who the BIA recognizes? 

A. At t h i s time, yes. Excuse me, and the BLM. 

Q. And the BLM? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do they normally recognize the same operator? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Have you ever known them t o recognize a d i f f e r e n t 

operator? 
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A. No, I haven't. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I would move t o admit E x h i b i t 1 

through 15. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objection? 

MR. HALL: I j u s t want t o make sure I have the 

r i g h t e x h i b i t numbers. The l a s t e x h i b i t i s — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Excuse me, Mr. H a l l , d i d you 

say 1 through 15 or 1 through 16? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I should have s a i d 1 through 16. 

We took them out of order, but yes, 1 through 16. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n , w i t h the exception of 

E x h i b i t 16. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any o b j e c t i o n , Mr. Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: None. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Your o b j e c t i o n i s so noted. 

E x h i b i t s 1 through 16 of the OCD, as represented by the 

c l a s s i c stamp, w i l l be admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I have no more questions of Mr. 

Chavez a t t h i s time. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. H a l l , your witness. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. Mr. Chavez, assume there's an emergency on one of 

the w e l l s on one of these three leases. Who are you going 
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t o c a l l ? Johnny Cunningham or Carmen Wood? 

A. Right now I would c a l l Ms. Wood. 

Q. Do you know anything about Ms. Wood's a b i l i t y t o 

operate any of these wells? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Do you know anything about her a b i l i t y t o respond 

t o an emergency? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Do you know anything about her past experience as 

an operator? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Do you know whether she has any employees? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Do you know whether she has a t e c h n i c a l 

background? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Do you know whether she's a petroleum engineer? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know whether she has an o f f i c e ? 

A. No. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Mr. Examiner, I would o b j e c t . 

The issue today i s n ' t whether one operator i s more capable 

than another but whether i t was appropriate f o r Mr. Chavez 

t o g rant the change-of-operator form based on the 

i n f o r m a t i o n he had before him a t t h a t time. 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Objection so noted. Mr. H a l l , 

please continue. 

Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) Mr. Chavez, from your background 

and experience, obviously q u i t e extensive, can you t e l l us 

your understanding of the d i f f e r e n c e between a lessee and 

an operator? What's the d i f f e r e n c e ? 

A. A lessee has a c e r t a i n ownership r i g h t t o develop 

p r o p e r t i e s . Depending on how the lease i s w r i t t e n , they 

have c e r t a i n r i g h t s t o ingress, egress, t o develop those 

p r o p e r t i e s . Also, l i m i t e d by the lease i t s e l f , they have 

r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s f o r assuring t h a t r o y a l t i e s are p a i d , t h a t 

c e r t a i n r e p o r t s t h a t may be re q u i r e d are f o l l o w e d . I t ' s a 

c e r t a i n p r o p e r t y r i g h t , but i t can be l i m i t e d , depending on 

how the lease i s w r i t t e n . 

Q. Does an operator have t o have a lease r i g h t i n 

order t o be operator? 

A. No. 

Q. Let's look a t your E x h i b i t s 5 through 9. Now, I 

understood you t o say t h a t E x h i b i t s 5 through 9 were what 

you r e l i e d on. These are what Ms. Wood brought you and 

what you r e l i e d on t o make a determination t h a t the change 

of operator should be approved; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Well, also Carmen wood came i n and she was A c t i o n 

O i l Company, and as the lessee she t o l d me t h a t Mr. 

Cunningham was not the operator, t h a t she was. So not j u s t 
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t h e document but her as operator, as lessee, the documents 

t h a t I had, saying t h a t Mr. Cunningham was not operator, 

had no operating r i g h t s , t e l l i n g me t h a t , also v a l i d a t e d 

t h a t I made the c o r r e c t choice. 

Q. My question was, the documents you s a i d you 

reviewed i n order t o make the determination t h a t A c t i o n O i l 

Company was operator were E x h i b i t s 5 through 9? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Can you show me anywhere w i t h i n E x h i b i t s 5 

through 9 the word "operator" i s used? 

A. Oh, I'm sure i t ' s not. 

Q. I t ' s not? 

A. Well, w i t h o u t l o o k i n g , they d i d n ' t t a l k about 

o p e r a t i n g r i g h t s i n these documents, as f a r as I know. But 

again, the lessee i s the one who designates who the 

operator i s . And the lessee was s i t t i n g r i g h t t h e r e i n my 

o f f i c e t e l l i n g me t h a t Mr. Cunningham, J.C. Well Service, 

was not operator. 

Q. When Ms. Wood came t o see you, d i d she show you 

the assignment, b i l l of sale and conveyance f i l e d of record 

w i t h t h e San Juan County Clerk's Office? 

A. No, she d i d n ' t . 

Q. I t ' s the E x h i b i t Number 2 instrument i n our 

e x h i b i t notebook. Did she show you th a t ? 

A. No, she d i d not. 
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Q. Did you ask her whether t h e r e was a county 

assignment f o r lease t i t l e ? 

A. No, I d i d n ' t . 

Q. Any reason t o be l i e v e t h a t t h i s assignment, our 

E x h i b i t 2, i s i n v a l i d i n any way? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Refer b r i e f l y t o your E x h i b i t 15. I t ' s t he EPA 

UIC permit m a t e r i a l . I t ' s dated November 10th, 1999. Do 

you know i f a t t h a t time the BIA had f i n i s h e d processing 

the request f o r approvals of the lease assignments from 

A c t i o n O i l Company t o Mr. Cunningham? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know, a t the time t h i s UIC permit was 

generated, whether the BIA had informed Mr. Cunningham the 

amount of the bond t h a t would be r e q u i r e d of him? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know what the process i s t o o b t a i n a 

release of the f e d e r a l bond on In d i a n leases? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Do you know whether A c t i o n O i l Company ever 

i n i t i a t e d the process t o o b t a i n a release of i t s bonds on 

the leases? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Do you know i f A c t i o n O i l Company even pa i d the 

premiums on i t s bonds? 
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A. No, t h a t ' s not r e l e v a n t . That wasn't i n f o r m a t i o n 

t h a t I needed. 

Q. Let's look back a t your E x h i b i t 2. I t ' s the 

C-104A. Again, you know Johnny Cunningham, don't you? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Why couldn't you have j u s t picked up the phone 

and asked him about t h i s change of operator? 

A. I t d i d n ' t seem l i k e one t h i n g t h a t I needed t o 

do. 

Q. Have you processed any other C-104A's s i m i l a r t o 

t h i s , where the previous operator has not signed o f f on a 

change? 

A. Not a 104A, I haven't. 

Q. I s your approval of t h i s p a r t i c u l a r change of 

operator a departure from your custom and p r a c t i c e i n the 

D i s t r i c t 3 Office? 

A. Well, the — not f o r handling an exception, no, 

because I have approved other C-104's, not 104A's, w i t h o u t 

a p r i o r operator signature, when i t appears the other 

i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t we had made i t a p p r o p r i a t e . The r e s t of 

the OCD does also. 

Q. Now, Ms. MacQuesten asked you a question whether 

or not th e r e was any s o r t of n o t i f i c a t i o n provided t o J.C. 

t h a t t h i s change of operator had been submitted. You 

d i d n ' t q u i t e answer the question d i r e c t l y . Do you know 
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whether J.C. was n o t i f i e d t h a t t h i s change of operator was 

being f i l e d ? 

A. I d i d n ' t make a n o t i f i c a t i o n myself. I f anybody 

els e d i d , I don't know. 

Q. But d i d you ask Ms. Wood whether J.C. had been 

n o t i f i e d t h a t t h i s was i n the works? 

A. I d i d n ' t ask her t h a t . From our conversations, 

i t was obvious t o me t h a t Mr. Cunningham already knew t h a t 

t h i s was o c c u r r i n g . 

Q. What was the basis of your understanding there? 

A. I don't remember the exact wording of the 

conversation, but i t had t o do w i t h the c o n f l i c t a r i s i n g 

out of issues a f t e r her divorce, a c q u i r i n g the A c t i o n O i l 

Company, t a k i n g a look a t the issues i n v o l v e d w i t h bonding, 

w i t h some other t h i n g s . I t was q u i t e i n v o l v e d . 

Q. I t was a long s t o r y , even i n v o l v i n g a d i v o r c e 

proceeding? 

A. Yes, I'm sure. 

Q. Did Ms. Wood t e l l you t h a t when she acquired 

A c t i o n O i l Company through her divorce t h a t i t had an 

agreed value of zero? 

A. I don't remember whether t h a t came up a t t h a t 

time. At some p o i n t I t h i n k we d i d have t h a t conversation. 

I t may have been a t t h a t time t h a t she s a i d i t had no 

assets. 
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Q. Did i t occur t o you a t the time t h a t Mr. 

Cunningham would o b j e c t t o the approval of the C-104? 

A. Well, t h a t was the g i s t of our conversation, t h a t 

i t was going t o be a contentious — or b a s i c a l l y t h a t he 

would o b j e c t , yeah. 

Q. And you went ahead and approved i t anyway, 

w i t h o u t asking him? 

A. With the in f o r m a t i o n t h a t I had i n f r o n t of me 

t h a t had been presented, supported by the BIA which s a i d 

t h a t Mrs. Wood was the lessee and t h e r e f o r e as lessee, my 

understanding — and I t h i n k i t ' s c o r r e c t — t h a t she has a 

r i g h t t o determine who's operator. She could determine who 

was the operator because she was the lessee of record, and 

t h a t ' s no problem t o me. 

Q. Did Ms. Wood represent t o you t h a t the 

assignments f o r the leases were pending before the BIA 

r e a l t y o f f i c e s ? 

A. I don't know t h a t she said t h a t . She d i d t e l l me 

t h a t she knew t h a t she had not f i l e d the documents t h a t he 

had a p p r o p r i a t e l y , t h a t they were supposed t o have been 

f i l e d w i t h i n f i v e days and he had not met t h a t requirement 

f o r change. 

Q. Did she i n d i c a t e t o you t h a t the request f o r 

approvals of the assignments were ever denied? 

A. I don't t h i n k t h a t we ever got t h a t f a r , no. 
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Q. Did you ever confer w i t h D i v i s i o n counsel about 

what t o do about t h i s s i t u a t i o n i n view of the pendency of 

the approval of the assignments of BIA? 

A. No, not — 

Q. I don't want t o know what counsel t o l d you, I 

j u s t want t o know i f you i n q u i r e d . 

A. No, I d i d n ' t . 

Q. Mr. Chavez, who's a c t u a l l y out t h e r e i n the f i e l d 

o p e r a t i n g the Navajo w e l l s now? 

A. Well, my understanding, a f t e r the f a c t , was t h a t 

Mr. Cunningham a c t u a l l y p h y s i c a l l y maintained o p e r a t i o n of 

the w e l l s out t h e r e f o r a c e r t a i n amount of time. Who's 

doing i t r i g h t now, I don't know. 

Q. Do you have any i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t t e l l s you t h a t 

t h a t has changed? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. I n f a c t , doesn't your f i e l d s t a f f have r e g u l a r 

involvement w i t h Mr. Cunningham out there? 

A. I don't know what you mean by r e g u l a r . I don't 

know the l a s t time they were out there on t h a t p r o p e r t y . 

Q. Okay. Well, i n s o f a r as you know, when your f i e l d 

s t a f f had had the occasion t o address the matter on these 

leases, had they d e a l t w i t h Mr. Cunningham? 

A. Up — Yeah, I know we had up t i l l t h i s change. I 

don't know — I haven't looked a t the i n s p e c t i o n records t o 
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see who they've dealt with or i f anybody has been out 

there, actually, since t h i s change. 

Q. Were you involved i n the Division's change of the 

format f o r the C-104A forms? 

A. Yes, I was. 

Q. Do you know why the p r i o r operator approval 

provision was kept on there? 

A. Yes, that was — at that time we thought i t was 

s t i l l h e l p f u l f o r us to process a 104A with the previous 

operator signing o f f on i t . 

Q. Why i n the past did you require the previous 

operator to sign off? 

A. Because of the problems that we'd had with these 

changes. 

Q. You've speaking of unapproved changes? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. What production reporting data i s being supplied 

t o the OCD and the Taxation and Revenue Department by 

Action O i l Company from these wells? 

A. I don't know what's being supplied to the 

Taxation and Revenue Department. 

To the OCD, I know that we're having some issues 

because we've had some f i l i n g s , apparently, by both J.C. 

Well Service under that OGRID, for these wells a f t e r the 

C-104 change occurred. I know that we had a problem, we 
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weren't g e t t i n g f i l i n g s from Action O i l Company f o r a 

period of time a f t e r the change was made. And apparently 

now there have been some C-115's f i l e d by BIYA company. 

So i t ' s — j u s t today, Ms. Prouty, who's i n 

charge of those p a r t i c u l a r f i l i n g s and tracking the 

production i n support of the OCD, came to me and related 

there are some re a l issues that need to be s e t t l e d here. 

So hopefully the outcome of t h i s — the f i n a l r e s u l t s of 

t h i s hearing w i l l allow us to s p e c i f i c a l l y address what 

needs to be done with those f i l i n g s . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . You understand from p r i o r testimony 

here th a t BIYA Operators i s now the operator of the wells 

on the Ute Mountain Ute T r i b a l lease? 

A. Well, again, maybe that might be determined by 

t h i s hearing. 

Q. Well, l e t me rephrase that. BIYA i s physically 

operating the wells on the lease? 

A. I'd heard tha t , and I don't know tha t any of our 

s t a f f has been out there t o v e r i f y t h a t , but that's what I 

understand, yeah. 

Q. Yeah. So Action O i l Company i s not f i l i n g any 

C-105 data with the Division, i s i t ? 

A. At one point I knew that they weren't. I haven't 

checked l a t e l y t o see what has or hasn't been f i l e d . 

Q. But are you aware that J.C. i s reporting 
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p r o d u c t i o n data under i t s OGRID number c u r r e n t l y ? 

A. I knew t h a t J.C. Well Service was f i l i n g C-115's. 

I d i d n ' t know i f they had stopped. 

Q. You d i d n ' t know t h a t they're not current? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . I f you know, how i s the D i v i s i o n 

h andling t h a t production data under Mr. Cunningham's OGRID 

number? Where i s i t going? 

A. Right now i t ' s put t o the side u n t i l we can 

determine, perhaps w i t h the r e s u l t s of t h i s hearing, how t o 

handle t h a t data. 

Q. Yeah. And do you know how the Taxation and 

Revenue Department i s handling t h a t data? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Sounds l i k e a problem, doesn't i t ? 

A. Yes, i t c e r t a i n l y does. 

Q. Are there any p e n a l t i e s t h a t may accrue t o the 

operator, whomever t h a t might be, f o r f a i l u r e t o r e p o r t 

p r o d u c t i o n data? 

A. I don't know ye t . That would be an enforcement 

a c t i o n t h a t g e n e r a l l y o r i g i n a t e s out of Ms. Prouty's o f f i c e 

through our counsel. 

Q. But the D i v i s i o n does have the a u t h o r i t y t o seek 

p e n a l t i e s and compliance, does i t not? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Do we know i f A c t i o n O i l Company i s paying taxes 

on p r o d u c t i o n t o anyone? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. And the OGRID data would not answer t h a t , would 

i t ? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. So the record i s c l e a r here, you're r e c e i v i n g no 

OGRID data from A c t i o n O i l Company, co r r e c t ? 

A. OGRID data, you mean production — 

Q. Production data, I'm so r r y . 

A. I don't know — I knew t h a t a t one time we 

weren't, and I haven't followed up t o see whether t h a t 

A c t i o n has caught up w i t h f i l i n g i n the r e p o r t s . 

Q. So the D i v i s i o n does not know whether A c t i o n O i l 

Company i s paying r o y a l t i e s ? 

A. That's not normally i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t we would 

have. 

Q. Neither the D i v i s i o n or Taxation and Revenue 

Department would know whether A c t i o n O i l Company i s 

r e m i t t i n g f o r production taxes? 

A. I'm not q u a l i f i e d t o answer. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Objection, Mr. Examiner. Mr. 

Chavez has explained t h a t he doesn't know a l l t h i s 

i n f o r m a t i o n , he's not the r i g h t person t o ask these 

questions o f . Ms. Prouty would be able t o answer them, but 
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Mr. H a l l d i d n ' t c a l l Ms. Prouty as a witness. I t ' s 

improper t o say the D i v i s i o n doesn't know t h i s . Mr. Chavez 

may or may not know t h i s , but he's also not the r i g h t 

person t o ask. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I agree w i t h Ms. MacQuesten. 

How many times does Mr. Chavez have t o say no? You want t o 

go on t o the next question? 

Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) Mr. Chavez, would you agree w i t h 

me t h a t the p r a c t i c e f o r change of operator t h a t the 

D i v i s i o n has adopted and followed on i t s c u r r e n t C-104A's 

r e q u i r i n g the signature of the new and the past operator i s 

a procedure t h a t ' s e a s i l y implemented by the D i v i s i o n i n 

i t s D i s t r i c t Offices? 

A. I guess — I'm sorr y , I don't understand the 

question. 

Q. Does the D i v i s i o n have a hard time implementing 

and processing C-104A forms? 

A. No. 

MR. HALL: No f u r t h e r questions, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: Just b r i e f l y , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. MONTOYA: 

Q. I n 1998, when the operator was changed t o J.C. 

Well Service, d i d you know anything about J.C. Well Service 
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or Mr. Cunningham — 

A. Yes, yes. 

Q. — before approving that change of operator? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And was — i s i t the policy of the Division t o 

inquire i n t o q u a l i f i c a t i o n s of operators before approving 

operators? 

A. The q u a l i f i c a t i o n that we have i s , on State and 

fee lands, i s that they do have the appropriate bonding f o r 

the wells and that that can only be accomplished i f there's 

other r e g i s t r a t i o n t o do business i n New Mexico. 

So i n the background, those types of 

q u a l i f i c a t i o n s . But as f a r as — which q u a l i f i c a t i o n s — 

l e t me ask you, which q u a l i f i c a t i o n s , so I can answer tha t 

appropriately. 

Q. I j u s t wanted to see what the poli c y was 

inves t i g a t i n g any background with respect t o operators when 

considering a change-of-operator request. 

A. We have a memorandum issued by Director LeMay a 

few years ago that does allow us to consider c e r t a i n other 

q u a l i f i c a t i o n s , yes, but i t didn't apply t o t h i s p a r t i c u l a r 

change. 

Q. And p r i o r to J.C. Well Service, Inc., being the 

operator, the p r i o r operator was Action O i l , Inc.; i s that 

correct? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And do you understand A c t i o n O i l , I n c . , t o 

be a corporation? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i s i t — i n your view or e s t i m a t i o n , i s i t 

p o s s i b l e f o r a c o r p o r a t i o n t o h i r e operators t o perform 

f u n c t i o n s f o r a corporation? 

A. Yes. 

Q. E x h i b i t 3 submitted by the A p p l i c a n t here i s the 

assignment of the mining leases t h a t are a t issue here, and 

do you f e e l t h a t i t ' s your r e s p o n s i b i l i t y t o determine 

whether assignments of mining leases are v a l i d or i n v a l i d ? 

A. No. 

Q. E x h i b i t 2 provided by the A p p l i c a n t i s the 

assignment, b i l l of sale and conveyance r e p o r t e d by A c t i o n 

O i l , I n c . , assigned t o a number of i n d i v i d u a l s , i n c l u d i n g 

Mr. Cunningham, the o i l and gas leases t h a t are the subject 

of t h i s hearing. Did you f e e l t h a t i t i s your 

r e s p o n s i b i l i t y t o i n q u i r e i n t o the v a l i d i t y of such 

assignment, b i l l and conveyance before making your d e c i s i o n 

i n t h i s case? 

A. No. 

Q. Now t h a t you have had some o p p o r t u n i t y t o 

consider E x h i b i t 2, which i s the assignment, b i l l of sale 

and conveyance, do you consider t h a t having t h i s document 
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before you would change your decision with respect t o the 

change-of-operator decision that you made? 

A. No, i t wouldn't. 

Q. I s i t the policy of the O i l Conservation Division 

t o recognize the same operator of the wells and leases at 

issue th a t are recognized by the federal government and by 

the respective Indian tribes? 

A. When you say "policy", we have a way of handling 

t h a t here and our in t e r p r e t a t i o n of what a polic y i s . I t ' s 

our practice t o do that , because — I t ' s not a w r i t t e n 

p o l i c y , i f you ask along those l i n e s , and a l l t h a t we have 

— a polic y i s what we kind of c a l l a w r i t t e n p o l i c y . But 

i t ' s our practice to do that , because that i s the best way 

to assure we can get compliance with our rules and 

regulations. 

Q. How long has that practice or policy been i n 

place? 

A. I don't know when i t originated. I t was there 

when I came to work f o r the Division i n 1978. 

Q. Has there been any challenge anywhere tha t you 

were aware of, that the practice or policy of the Division 

i n recognizing the same operator of the wells and leases at 

issue that are recognized by the government agencies and 

the t r i b e s that may be affected? 

A. I can't think of whether there's ever been a 
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d i f f e r e n c e . 

Q. I'm so r r y , I d i d n ' t — 

A. I can't t h i n k of whether there's ever been a 

d i f f e r e n c e between our r e c o g n i t i o n and the f e d e r a l , BLM 

r e c o g n i t i o n of an operator. Maybe I d i d n ' t understand your 

question. 

Q. No, no, you answered the question. 

A. Okay. 

Q. And t o your knowledge — you may have asked t h i s 

before, but has there ever been a case i n v o l v i n g t he 

D i v i s i o n whereby the D i v i s i o n recognized a d i f f e r e n t 

operator f o r a w e l l or lease a t issue than i s recognized by 

the f e d e r a l government or a f f e c t e d I n d i a n t r i b e s ? 

A. I can't t h i n k of any. 

MR. MONTOYA: That's a l l I have. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any r e d i r e c t , Ms. MacQuesten? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: No, thank you. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. Okay, l e t ' s see. Mr. Chavez, I want t o make sure 

on my e x h i b i t s here. E x h i b i t Number 2 i s the C-104A, and 

i s i t my understanding t h a t E x h i b i t s 3 back through 9 were 

brought i n t o s u b s t a n t i a t e t h a t change? I s t h a t c o r r e c t , 

or am I missing something? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . Hold on a second, l e t me 
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get t h i s r i g h t . Ms. Wood brought i n Exhibit 2, 3 through 

9, as best as I can r e c o l l e c t , yes. 

Q. Okay, l e t ' s go to Exhibit Number 9 here. Would 

t h i s be on the image as what was accepted i n t o the wel l 

f i l e , or would the 104 and the l i s t i n g be the only thing 

t h a t would be accepted i n the OCD well f i l e ? 

A. I n the well f i l e a l l we put i s the 104A document. 

Q. Okay. Look closely at Exhibit Number 9. Could 

t h i s have been brought to you subsequent t o the C-104A 

and — 

A. Oh, yes. 

Q. — t h i s documentation? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I'm sorry, that Exhibit Number 9, by i t s date, 

would indicate that i t was not brought at the same time 

tha t I — Mrs. Carmen Wood brought me the other documents. 

Q. Okay, so maybe perhaps t h i s came i n subsequent t o 

t h i s , t o help substantiate. Was that brought by — 

A. I don't — 

Q. Did you seek that information? 

A. No, I never sought any of t h i s information that 

was brought t o me. 

Q. Okay. Now, I'm going to refer t o Exhibit Number 

1, and l e t ' s go back i n history a l i t t l e b i t here. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

119 

A. Okay. 

Q. The change i n operator, since you have been OCD 

supervisor a t D i s t r i c t 3, which was back i n what, 1980 — 

A. 1980 i s when I became supervisor. 

Q. Okay, so l e t ' s go back j u s t t o 1980. How would 

an operator change i n — Was t h a t Form C-104? 

A. Yes, i t was. 

Q. Okay. Was there a place f o r the o l d operator t o 

sig n on the o l d 1980 C-104s? 

A. No, there wasn't. 

Q. Okay. When d i d t h a t p r a c t i c e get adopted, t o 

your r e c o l l e c t i o n ? 

A. My r e c o l l e c t i o n i s , a t the same time t h a t we 

rev i s e d the forms t o match or t o be useable f o r the ONGARD 

system, t o include OGRIDs, POD numbers and other 

i n f o r m a t i o n on here t h a t we could put i n t o the ONGARD 

system. 

Q. Or the computer system? 

A. Yes, excuse me, our ONGARD data computer system. 

Q. Okay. Now, t h a t p r a c t i c e , was t h a t i n the r u l e , 

or was i t on the form w i t h i n s t r u c t i o n s on the back t o 

o b t a i n the previous operator's signature? 

A. I don't t h i n k t h a t we made a r u l e change, because 

i f I r e c o l l e c t c o r r e c t l y the OCD p r a c t i c e was t o w r i t e a 

r u l e f o r the operator t o submit a form, but a t one p o i n t we 
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determined t h a t i t was unnecessary t o take every form 

change t o hearing, and t h e r e f o r e we could change a form, 

and the operators could s t i l l comply w i t h the r u l e by 

f i l l i n g out the i n f o r m a t i o n r e q u i r e d on the form. 

Q. So t h a t was a p r a c t i c e t h a t was i n s t r u c t e d on the 

back of the form t o o b t a i n the — 

A. Yes, we came up w i t h a new set of i n s t r u c t i o n s 

w i t h t h i s document, yes. 

Q. Okay. And as f a r as those set of i n s t r u c t i o n s , 

what d i d i t say i f the o r i g i n a l operator would not, could 

not sign? 

A. I'm s o r r y , Mr. Examiner, I don't r e c a l l . 

Q. Were you involved when t h a t p r a c t i c e — Well, l e t 

me rephrase t h a t . 

When t h a t p r a c t i c e was adopted, was t h e r e a 

committee t o study the possible changes i n the form or 

change i n operator, rule? Were you inv o l v e d i n those 

discussions? 

A. I know I was involved i n the change. I don't 

r e c a l l the e n t i r e process t h a t was used. But i t was — i t 

d i d i n v o l v e considerable OCD s t a f f when we d i d make these 

changes, I r e c a l l t h a t . But I don't remember whether we 

formed a committee or whether we j u s t went around i n 

i n f o r m a l discussions t o come up w i t h some k i n d of a 

consensus t h a t t h i s was necessary. 
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Q. Why did the Division s t a r t — and I'm not going 

t o use the word — I'm going t o say require, and I know 

that i t ' s not a requirement, but when did we s t a r t seeking 

t h i s , and what was some of the reasons tha t was discussed 

i n those committees or when that was adopted? 

A. There was occasionally a problem, because more 

than — an operator would claim that they should — one 

person would claim that they should be operator of the well 

and then another would. 

In f a c t , I r e c a l l a specific reference from one 

of our southeastern d i s t r i c t s where one of the s t a f f 

members — I don't r e c a l l who i t was — t o l d us tha t they 

had appeared at a time when an operator would f i l e a 104 

one day, and the next day the other operator wanted t o 

continue f o r several days, and i t j u s t created a l o t of 

problems. 

Q. Was there other — can you remember some of the 

other reasons? That was one example. 

A. Oh, well — No, I'm sorry, I don't r e c a l l them 

a l l , the discussions that we had. 

Q. But there were other — 

A. Like as f a r as I r e c a l l , I think there were some 

other reasons that made t h i s very appropriate. 

Q. What percentage, roughly, do you see or have seen 

at your o f f i c e , at the D i s t r i c t Office, where the o r i g i n a l 
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s i g n a t u r e was not obtained? What percentage of the change 

of operators? 

A. I t would be hard — the percentage would be so 

low, of course, i t ' s less than one percent. 

Q. But whenever they do come i n , what has been your 

p r a c t i c e or the D i v i s i o n ' s p r a c t i c e t o s u b s t a n t i a t e or a t 

l e a s t get some s o r t of v e r i f i c a t i o n or reasoning? 

A. Well, we always need some other i n f o r m a t i o n , you 

know, why d i d n ' t — or why i s n ' t t h e r e a previous operator 

s i g n a t u r e on the document? And the new operator would have 

t o show us something t h a t would s u b s t a n t i a t e why they 

should be the operator. 

I n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r case I had the lessee of 

record r i g h t t h e r e i n f r o n t of me, who would determine who 

the operator i s i n t h e i r — when you have the person who 

owns the lease, who determines who the operator i s , r i g h t 

t h e r e i n f r o n t of you and they t e l l you, t h a t p r e t t y much 

i s black and white. 

Q. And of the ones t h a t you do not see a si g n a t u r e 

from the previous operator, what has been the reason i n the 

m a j o r i t y of those cases? 

A. The m a j o r i t y of the cases have been where the 

previous operator i s no longer i n existence through 

bankruptcy, abandonment of the p r o p e r t i e s , t h i n g s l i k e 

t h a t . 
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Q. So that practice has worked out f a i r l y well? 

A. Yes, i t has. We haven't — t h i s i s — I n a l l my 

years i n the Aztec D i s t r i c t , t h i s i s the f i r s t time there's 

been a challenge to one of these. 

Q. Were you hoping to r e t i r e without seeing disputes 

such as this? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. The OCD, State of New Mexico, has no rules and 

regulations t o license an operator; i s t h a t your 

understanding? 

A. Yes, we don't have a type of licensure except 

only as i s required f o r us to approve a bond f o r an 

operator so that they be licensed to do business i n the 

State of New Mexico through regulatory licensing, along 

those l i n e s , but no p a r t i c u l a r OCD licensure or 

q u a l i f i c a t i o n s are required f o r an operator. 

Q. Now, under — Help me understand the procedure. 

Generally speaking, when there's a change of operator, do 

you see i t as a form, or do you s t a r t seeing i t — I say 

"you": the D i s t r i c t . Perhaps somebody i s f i l i n g — Let's 

say company A — d r i l l e d i t , operated i t , produced i t — 

now has been sold to company B. Do you see t h a t change 

generally come i n with a C-104 f i l e or somebody else f i l i n g 

a C-105, or the plugging bond whenever i t ' s state and fee 

acreage, or do you see i t a l l happen simultaneously, or i s 
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there some sort of time period before everything gels out. 

A. Generally, everything happens simultaneously on 

federal lands. At the same time we're receiving the C-104, 

we' l l generally be receiving a sundry notice through the 

BLM o f f i c e of the same change of operator through the 

process th a t they use on the lands that they have t r u s t 

r e s p o n s i b i l i t y f o r . 

There have been a few times when, f o r whatever 

reason, an operator has not executed a change with us, and 

i t ' s a r a r i t y but i t has happened. They may have already 

started f i l i n g some other kind of paperwork with our 

agency. 

A couple of years or three or four years ago, we 

had an operator who had acquired an OGRID and started 

f i l i n g C-115s without having processed the 104's. And when 

tha t was brought to our attention and we contacted the 

operator they said, Oh, I didn't r e a l i z e we had to do th a t , 

and they immediately complied with the f i l i n g requirement. 

But i t i s a r a r i t y when a l l t h i s i s not done 

simultaneously. 

Q. Okay. What's i n your authority as the D i s t r i c t 

Supervisor, on state and fee lands when a — an instance 

where the operator and the party f i l i n g a C-105 monthly 

production report, i f i t has not got t o a point where they 

are the same — 
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A. I — 

Q. — what are some of the other t h i n g s you as a 

supervisor could do t o assure t h a t t h i s has occurred? 

A. Well, I guess I don't understand the question. 

Q. Could you shut the w e l l i n u n t i l everybody got 

t h e i r a c t together? 

A. That i s a — That's a very b i g p o s s i b i l i t y , we 

could do t h a t . As f a r as doing t h a t , i t ' s g e n e r a l l y not 

h e l p f u l t o do t h a t i n some ways, and on t h i s p a r t i c u l a r 

p r o p e r t y i t a c t u a l l y would not be h e l p f u l , t he reason being 

t h a t many of these leases, i f they don't produce f o r a 

month, e x p i r e . 

And we've worked w i t h the BLM before t o a l l o w 

p r o p e r t y t o continue t o produce which might otherwise have 

been shut i n due t o p r o r a t i o n reasons, but i n a l i m i t e d way 

— allowed t o produce l i m i t e d l y so t h a t the lease would not 

e x p i r e , and i n t h a t case the property would be preserved. 

So as f a r as s h u t t i n g i n these w e l l s , I would 

p r e f e r not t o do t h a t , or a t l e a s t work through the BLM t o 

assure t h a t the — whatever needed t o be done t o t r a c k 

r o y a l t i e s and a l l were continued. 

Q. Okay, one other question. E x h i b i t Number 2 — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — the r e i s another hand — Well, l e t me go 

through some other t h i n g s , because I was marking here what 
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you had t o l d me, as I understood, were your a d d i t i o n s i n 

t h i s form — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — and I understood you marked the new OGRID. 

How about the o l d OGRID? I s t h a t your handwriting? 

A. No, t h a t ' s not mine. 

Q. Okay, so you f i l l e d i n the new one, OGRID? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the word "Not Available"? 

A. Yes, I d i d t h a t . 

Q. And then your s c r i b b l e t h a t I assume i s your 

signature? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Those are the three markings t h a t you have made 

on t h i s form? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay, what's t h a t up there on the t o p , above the 

Change of Operator, "done 8-26"? 

A. That i s w r i t t e n by Monica Kuehling from my 

o f f i c e . A f t e r t h i s i s processed, t h a t ' s her note t h a t she 

had processed the C-104 through our imaging system. 

Q. Now, l e t ' s go back down here t o the new operator. 

When you put t h a t new ONGRID [ s i c ] number down, d i d you 

check and see i f a l l the i n f o r m a t i o n i n the computer t h a t 

corresponded w i t h t h a t OGRID, t h a t number, corresponded 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

127 

w i t h the address as shown f o r A c t i o n O i l Company, Inc.? 

A. I guess I don't understand your — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — question. 

Q. You have the new OGRID. That number was not 

assigned. That was our — assigned by you of t h a t day, but 

t h a t was already i n the system? 

A. Yes. What had happened i s , E x h i b i t Number 3 

includes new operator OGRID number. That p a r t i c u l a r number 

— I t ' s my understanding t h a t t h a t was w r i t t e n by one of 

our s t a f f , OCD s t a f f i n Santa Fe, whenever t h i s was sent t o 

Carmen Wood. 

Q. Okay, when was t h a t OGRID number assigned t o 

A c t i o n O i l Company, Inc.? 

A. This p a r t i c u l a r document, E x h i b i t Number 3, i s 

dated J u l y 10th i n the top r i g h t , and Ms. Dorothy P h i l l i p s 

i s u s u a l l y the one who generates t h i s document when there's 

a C-104A change a t the request of the new operator. I'm 

not r e a l sure about t h i s a t the top, whether t h i s f a x 

number on the l e f t side of the document i n d i c a t e s t h a t Mrs. 

P h i l l i p s faxed t h i s t o Carmen Wood or how Ms. Woods got i t . 

Q. Okay, what i f I go t o E x h i b i t Number 1 and look 

a t the bottom of the page? When A c t i o n O i l had signed i t , 

i t asked f o r an OGRID number. How come i t wasn't put i n a t 

t h a t time? 
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A. On the 104A? 

Q. The 104. This i s E x h i b i t Number 1. 

A. Oh, I'm so r r y . 

Q. Okay now, I'm swi t c h i n g back here. And i f you 

look down a t the bottom where Mr. Burson signed f o r A c t i o n 

O i l Company, i n the i n s t r u c t i o n s i t says, " I f t h i s i s a 

change of operator f i l l i n the OGRID number and the name of 

the previous operator". I s the OGRID number there? 

A. No, i t ' s not. 

Q. Okay. Was i t because i t wasn't assigned a t t h a t 

time or — 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Okay. I guess what I'm g e t t i n g a t , d i d you check 

the v a l i d i t y of the r e s t of t h i s i n f o r m a t i o n when i t came 

t o the address? 

A. No, because when Carmen Wood presented t h i s 

document I was — b a s i c a l l y , l i k e I s a i d , I don't remember 

how much was f i l l e d out. Not very much was f i l l e d out, but 

we went through the process of my i n s t r u c t i n g her how t o 

f i l l i t out. 

Q. Okay. 

A. So I d i d not v e r i f y t h i s w i t h any i n f o r m a t i o n 

t h a t we might have i n our ONGARD system already concerning 

A c t i o n O i l . 

As happens q u i t e o f t e n , the addresses t h a t are 
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submitted on some documents don't always match the OGRID 

addresses, because they're submitted from a d i f f e r e n t 

o f f i c e than what i s r e g i s t e r e d under our OGRID system, or 

the response t h a t the operator would l i k e f o r us t o supply 

t o them on the basis of the document i s t o a d i f f e r e n t 

address than i s the o f f i c i a l OGRID address. So t h a t ' s not 

ne c e s s a r i l y a c r i t i c a l item f o r us. 

Q. Okay. E s s e n t i a l l y t h a t ' s what I'm g e t t i n g a t i n 

some ways, i s t h a t i t may appear somewhat ant i q u a t e d . I t ' s 

a s e l f - p o l i c i n g type of a — 

A. Yes, i t i s . We can't always v e r i f y . I d i d n ' t 

even go through the process of v e r i f y i n g J.C. Well Service, 

Incorporated, address. This i s j u s t i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t ' s 

r e q u i r e d on t h i s document. I d i d n ' t v e r i f y t h a t — or — 

Ms. Wood got her own address c o r r e c t or her phone number. 

This i s i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t she had t o f i l l out. 

Q. And as you s t a t e d , t h i s i s the f i r s t time t h a t 

you have seen such a dispute since you've been — 

A. Yeah, the f i r s t time t h a t a 104 approval has been 

disputed t h a t we've done i n my d i s t r i c t . 

Q. And I would assume or c e r t a i n l y hope t h a t such a 

dis p u t e would not lead t o c e r t a i n r u l e s and r e g u l a t i o n s 

being adopted where we would have t o do searches on 

ownership, leasees, such as t h a t . 

A. No, we don't have the resources, and what happens 
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sometimes i s misunderstanding of the document. As was 

s t a t e d e a r l i e r , t h i s 104 does not i n any way v e r i f y , 

v a l i d a t e ownership or leasehold. The 104 document i s the 

one by which an operator declares t o us t h a t they are 

responsible f o r being sure t h a t the w e l l s t h a t are sub j e c t 

t o t h i s document are i n compliance w i t h NMOCD Rules and 

Regulations. They are — claim t h a t they are the 

responsible p a r t y . 

And Ms. Carmen Wood was — or A c t i o n O i l was the 

leaseholder. They could claim or designate whoever would 

be the responsible p a r t y f o r these p a r t i c u l a r w e l l s . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: That's a l l the questions I 

have of Mr. Chavez. 

Any other questions of t h i s witness? 

MR. HALL: One question, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Hall? 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. A question asked by Mr. Montoya, you i n d i c a t e d 

t h a t i t was the D i v i s i o n ' s p o l i c y t o regard the des i g n a t i o n 

of operator by the BIA and the BLM as the ap p r o p r i a t e 

operator f o r purposes of processing the C-104. 

A. I don't know t h a t I st a t e d i t t h a t way, no. 

Q. I s t h a t g e n e r a l l y c o r r e c t , though? 

A. Generally, yes. 
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Q. And I understand you t o say — I agree w i t h you 

t h a t t he D i v i s i o n does not have the time or the resources 

t o conduct t i t l e searches t o v e r i f y some of the statements 

t h a t new operators make t o the D i v i s i o n . Let's look a t one 

circumstance, though, i n view of the testimony here today. 

I f you would look a t the e x h i b i t under E x h i b i t 

Tab 16, i t ' s a C-104, one of the w e l l s we're t a l k i n g about 

here, and i f y o u ' l l note a t the bottom — Do you have t h a t 

i n f r o n t of you? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. I t was approved by you November 8 t h , 1993. But 

then i f you look back under E x h i b i t s 14 and 15, you see the 

assignments of t i t l e i n t o A c t i o n O i l Company. A c t i o n O i l 

Company d i d not receive record t i t l e u n t i l 1995. I f y o u ' l l 

look a t the second page of those assignment forms — 

A. I'm s o r r y , second page of which e x h i b i t ? Which 

tab? 

Q. 14 or 15, those are both assignment forms. I f 

you look a t the second page of e i t h e r one of those — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — bottom right-hand corner, i t i n d i c a t e s the 

approval date. See t h a t there? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. I n each case they were dated 1995, and y e t the 

C-104 f o r one of the w e l l s t h a t are inv o l v e d here was 
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approved — change of operator i n t o A c t i o n O i l Company from 

Chase Energy, 1993. How d i d t h a t happen? 

A. Well, there was no challenge t o t h a t approval, 

and t h e r e was no i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t would i n d i c a t e t o us t h a t 

t h a t approval shouldn't be made. 

Q. So you r e l y upon the representations t h a t are 

made t o you by any operator, any person f i l i n g a C-104 t o 

be processed by the D i v i s i o n , t h a t they're a u t h o r i z e d t o do 

so, t h a t they have lease t i t l e , t h a t they are the 

designated operator i n s o f a r as the BLM or BIA might be 

concerned? 

A. Yes, and t h a t ' s — f o r example, t h a t ' s what I d i d 

t o approve what we have as E x h i b i t Number 1, Mr. 

Cunningham's o r i g i n a l 104. 

Q. And so the D i v i s i o n must take i t upon f a i t h t h a t 

the records of the BIA or the BLM are c u r r e n t and t h a t they 

are c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, unless an issue would be r a i s e d by some 

i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t we would have t o go and do some other k i n d 

of v e r i f i c a t i o n . 

Q. And the only way t h a t a question would be r a i s e d , 

i f the p r i o r operator, as i n t h i s case, were not n o t i f i e d 

t h a t someone was f i l i n g a change-of-operator form? 

A. S t a r t t h a t again? The only — 

Q. You sa i d you r e l y upon the BIA and BLM records t o 
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determine who has the a u t h o r i t y t o f i l e t he C-104's — 

A. When i t ' s necessary, yes. 

Q. Yes, and you also i n d i c a t e d you have t o r e l y upon 

the r e p r e s e n t a t i o n s made t o the D i v i s i o n by the person or 

the operator f i l i n g the C-104 t h a t they are so authorized? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. And you said you don't question t h a t unless 

someone r a i s e s a question about i t . I s n ' t i t t he case t h a t 

t h e only way a question would have been r a i s e d i n t h i s case 

i s f o r t h e r e t o have been some n o t i f i c a t i o n t o J.C. Well 

Service? 

A. No, not necessarily, because the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t 

I had i n f r o n t of me a t t h a t time, from — n o t i c e s from the 

BIA, l i k e I s a i d , showed t h a t the lease t i t l e h older, Ms. 

Carmen Wood, who's r i g h t t here i n f r o n t of me, and then she 

t o l d me who the operator was going t o be — w i t h t h a t 

i n f o r m a t i o n , I don't see t h a t there's much else t h a t would 

be necessary. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And so i n s o f a r as the D i s t r i c t O f f i c e 

i s able t o process these t h i n g s , the f a c t t h a t i n 1993 

A c t i o n O i l Company d i d not have t i t l e t o these leases does 

not render t h e i r C-104 i n v a l i d i n 1993; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. To go back t h a t f a r , I don't know t h a t I would 

say — I would have t o agree w i t h you, t h a t i t doesn't 

render i t i n v a l i d , t h a t approval t h a t we d i d a t t h a t time, 
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because I don't have i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t would t o me i n d i c a t e 

otherwise what would — I don't know w i t h o u t e x p l o r i n g t h i s 

f u r t h e r i f the BLM approved an assignment of operator and 

sundry n o t i c e s , except from A c t i o n O i l . Without 

researching the w e l l f i l e s I wouldn't — There's a l o t of 

other i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t I probably would have t o look a t t o 

see — t o f u l l y answer your question. 

MR. HALL: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Examiner, t h a t ' s 

a l l I have. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Montoya? 

MR. MONTOYA: I note the hour. Just one. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. MONTOYA: 

Q. Mr. Chavez, have you received any i n f o r m a t i o n 

through today's date, from the date of your d e c i s i o n 

forward, i n c l u d i n g a l l of the e x h i b i t s and documents i n 

evidence t h a t the Applicant has submitted, t h a t would 

change your d e c i s i o n even today w i t h respect t o the change 

of operator? 

A. No, I haven't. 

Q. With respect — With respect t o any p r i o r 

a p p l i c a t i o n i n v o l v i n g the D i v i s i o n — 

A. With respect t o what again? 

Q. With respect t o any p r i o r a p p l i c a t i o n i n which 

the D i v i s i o n approved the change of operator — i n 
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p a r t i c u l a r , reference was made t o E x h i b i t 16 — was th e r e a 

disp u t e concerning whether the Bureau of Land Management or 

the Bureau of In d i a n A f f a i r s or the various I n d i a n t r i b e s 

recognize or do not recognize the leaseholder w i t h respect 

t o t h a t p a r t i c u l a r a p p l i c a t i o n ? Was t h a t before the 

D i v i s i o n a t t h a t time? 

A. No. 

Q. As I understand your testimony here today, t he 

Bureau of Land Management recognizes A c t i o n O i l , I n c . , as 

the lessee of record f o r the leases and w e l l s t h a t are a t 

issue? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t I have. 

Q. And the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t you have i s , the Bureau 

of I n d i a n A f f a i r s recognizes A c t i o n O i l , I n c . , as the 

lessee of record f o r the leases and w e l l s t h a t are a t 

issue? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t you have before you 

today i s t h a t the I n d i a n t r i b e s a t issue recognizes A c t i o n 

O i l , I n c . , as the lessee of record w i t h respect t o the 

leases and o i l w e l l s t h a t are a t issue? 

A. Yes. 

MR. MONTOYA: That's a l l I have. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: So noted, the hour. However, 

I'm going t o take a 10-minute recess, and my i n t e n t t o 
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f i n i s h t h i s up t h i s evening. I do have a phone c a l l t h a t 

w i l l r e q u i r e me not t o be here tomorrow. 

With t h a t , w i t h my 10-minute recess, Mr. Montoya, 

i f you f e e l i t necessary t o present your witness, we w i l l 

hear your witness 

MR. MONTOYA: Oh, no. No, i t ' s not going t o be 

necessary. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You do not, okay. Well, I do 

want t o take a 10-minute recess so I can make a phone c a l l , 

and then I ' l l hear c l o s i n g arguments, and then we w i l l 

decide a d d i t i o n a l time, i f i t ' s needed, f o r a d d i t i o n a l 

documentation t o Mr. Scott H a l l ' s w r i t t e n memorandum. 

And so w i t h t h a t , l e t ' s take a 10-minute recess. 

Mr. Chavez, you may be excused. 

MR. CHAVEZ: Thank you. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 5:20 p.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 5:36 p.m.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Hearing w i l l resume order. I s 

th e r e any need t o c a l l any other witnesses a t t h i s time? 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, I don't t h i n k so. And 

a l l counsel have conferred, and we're a l l agreeable t o 

waiving c l o s i n g statements. Up t o you. We'll g i v e them t o 

you i f you l i k e . I've submitted a w r i t t e n b r i e f . Be gla d 

t o have the other p a r t i e s submit responses t o t h a t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I s t h a t okay w i t h you, Mr. 
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Montoya and Ms. MacQuesten? 

MR. MONTOYA: I d i d n ' t mention t o waive a 

c l o s i n g , but I — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Would you l i k e me t o leave the 

room so you a l l can discuss i t a l i t t l e more? 

MR. MONTOYA: No, but I thought what we agreed t o 

do was j u s t simply submit any c l o s i n g i n w r i t i n g , and t h a t 

would a l s o permit o p p o r t u n i t y t o respond t o the memorandum 

t h a t was submitted. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, how much time i s needed? 

Was t h a t discussed? What would you l i k e ? Two weeks? 

MR. MONTOYA: Two weeks? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Next hearing date, which would 

be A p r i l 29th? 

MR. HALL: They're the ones doing i t , not me. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: I ' d l i k e t o ask f o r a l i t t l e 

more time, i f p o s s i b l e . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Three weeks? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Three weeks or a month. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, how about — Let's go t o 

the next hearing date, which would be May 13th. 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Okay. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: May 13th f o r responses, 

w r i t t e n responses. 

Also, w i t h the w r i t t e n responses, I would l i k e a 
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suggested rough-draft order. So we're l o o k i n g a t May 13th 

deadline. And I ' l l accept i t beforehand too. 

MR. MONTOYA: And i s t h a t — I mean, would the 

w r i t t e n responses include a w r i t t e n summation as we l l ? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: No, i t does not. I f you f e e l 

you must respond, then ask f o r a d d i t i o n a l time. 

MR. MONTOYA: No, I'm saying t h a t a c l o s i n g 

argument — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: That includes the c l o s i n g 

argument. So anything t h a t you want t o present t o me i n 

w r i t i n g i s c l o s i n g argument or r e b u t t a l t o the memorandum 

and a rou g h - d r a f t order. 

MR. MONTOYA: That's r i g h t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. As you see, we're a 

l i t t l e i n f o r m a l here. I t ' s probably what you're used t o , 

but i t seems t o work. 

Okay, anything f u r t h e r i n t h i s matter a t t h i s 

time. 

Then the hearing w i l l be adjourned and the record 

w i l l be l e f t open pending the s u b m i t t a l of the 

documentation. 

Ms. MacQuesten, I have t a l k e d t o Cheryl — What's 

Cheryl's l a s t name ups t a i r s ? 

MS. MacQUESTEN: Bada, B-a-d-a? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I may need some advice from 
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her e x p e r t i s e . Please r e f r a i n from discussing t h i s matter 

w i t h her. She i s a l e g a l counsel f o r the Department. She 

u s u a l l y works w i t h Forestry, but she does have some 

e x p e r t i s e t h a t I t h i n k might be u s e f u l t o me. 

You probably haven't n o t i c e d i t , Mr. Montoya, I'm 

not an at t o r n e y , I'm an engineer. That sounds l i k e a t h i n g 

from Star Trek. 

With t h a t , then today's case i s adjourned. Have 

a safe t r i p back, l a d i e s and gentlemen. Thank you. 

MR. MONTOYA: Thank you. 

(Thereupon, these proceedings were concluded a t 

5:40 p.m.) 

* * * 
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